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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
 

KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(UNAUDITED)
(In millions of dollars except per share data)

 13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended

 Sept. 30,
2012

Oct. 2,
2011

Sept. 30,
2012

Oct. 2,
2011

Revenue from services  $ 1,354.2  $ 1,409.8  $ 4,075.1  $ 4,154.7
                 
Cost of services   1,126.7   1,184.1   3,400.7   3,495.7
                 
Gross profit   227.5   225.7   674.4   659.0
                 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   203.5   203.6   611.9   614.0
                 
Earnings from operations   24.0   22.1   62.5   45.0
                 
Other (expense) income, net   (0.7)   1.0   (1.8)   (0.1)
                 
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes   23.3   23.1   60.7   44.9
                 
Income taxes   6.7   3.4   19.9   4.1
                 
Earnings from continuing operations   16.6   19.7   40.8   40.8
                 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   -   -   0.4   (1.2)
                 
Net earnings  $ 16.6  $ 19.7  $ 41.2  $ 39.6
                 
Basic earnings (loss) per share:                 

Earnings from continuing operations  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.07  $ 1.09
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  $ -  $ -  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)
Net earnings  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.09  $ 1.05

                 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:                 

Earnings from continuing operations  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.07  $ 1.09
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  $ -  $ -  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)
Net earnings  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.09  $ 1.05

                 
Dividends per share  $ 0.05  $ 0.05  $ 0.15  $ 0.05
                 
Average shares outstanding (millions):                 

Basic   37.1   36.8   37.0   36.8
Diluted   37.1   36.8   37.0   36.8

 
See accompanying unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(UNAUDITED)
(In millions of dollars)

 13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended

 Sept. 30,
2012

Oct. 2,
2011

Sept. 30,
2012

Oct. 2,
2011

                 
Net earnings  $ 16.6  $ 19.7  $ 41.2  $ 39.6
                 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:                 
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax benefit of $0.3, $0.7, $0.3 and

$0.6, respectively   5.8   (17.3)   4.7   (5.5)
Less: Reclassification adjustments included in net earnings   -   (1.5)   -   (1.5)

Foreign currency translation adjustments   5.8   (18.8)   4.7   (7.0)
                 
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments   (0.5)   (0.6)   9.8   (1.1)
                 
Pension liability adjustments   -   -   0.3   -
                 
Other comprehensive income   5.3   (19.4)   14.8   (8.1)
                 
Comprehensive Income  $ 21.9  $ 0.3  $ 56.0  $ 31.5
 
See accompanying unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED)
(In millions)

ASSETS Sept. 30, 2012 January 1, 2012
CURRENT ASSETS:         

Cash and equivalents  $ 70.3  $ 81.0
Trade accounts receivable, less allowances of $11.9 and $13.4, respectively   1,018.8   944.9
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   62.9   50.6
Deferred taxes   38.1   38.2
Total current assets   1,190.1   1,114.7

         
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:         

Property and equipment   336.0   326.9
Accumulated depreciation   (245.6)   (236.3)
Net property and equipment   90.4   90.6

         
NONCURRENT DEFERRED TAXES   88.8   94.1
         
GOODWILL, NET   91.2   90.2
         
OTHER ASSETS   174.8   152.1
         
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 1,635.3  $ 1,541.7
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY         
CURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Short-term borrowings  $ 83.6  $ 96.3
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   279.1   237.2
Accrued payroll and related taxes   269.9   271.4
Accrued insurance   28.8   31.5
Income and other taxes   62.7   61.3
Total current liabilities   724.1   697.7

         
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Accrued insurance   48.9   53.5
Accrued retirement benefits   108.5   91.1
Other long-term liabilities   25.1   23.7
Total noncurrent liabilities   182.5   168.3

         
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:         

Capital stock, $1.00 par value         
Class A common stock, shares issued 36.6 at 2012 and 2011   36.6   36.6
Class B common stock, shares issued 3.5 at 2012 and 2011   3.5   3.5

Treasury stock, at cost         
Class A common stock, 3.0 shares at 2012 and 3.2 at 2011   (62.5)   (66.3)
Class B common stock   (0.6)   (0.6)

Paid-in capital   27.7   28.8
Earnings invested in the business   693.0   657.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income   31.0   16.2
Total stockholders' equity   728.7   675.7

         
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  $ 1,635.3  $ 1,541.7

See accompanying unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(UNAUDITED)
(In millions of dollars)

 13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended

 Sept. 30,
2012

Oct. 2,
2011

Sept. 30,
2012

Oct. 2,
2011

Capital Stock                 
Class A common stock                 

Balance at beginning of period  $ 36.6  $ 36.6  $ 36.6  $ 36.6
Conversions from Class B   -   -   -   -
Balance at end of period   36.6   36.6   36.6   36.6

                 
Class B common stock                 

Balance at beginning of period   3.5   3.5   3.5   3.5
Conversions to Class A   -   -   -   -
Balance at end of period   3.5   3.5   3.5   3.5

                 
Treasury Stock                 
Class A common stock                 

Balance at beginning of period   (62.6)   (68.1)   (66.3)   (70.3)
Exercise of stock options, restricted stock awards and other   0.1   0.1   3.8   2.3
Balance at end of period   (62.5)   (68.0)   (62.5)   (68.0)

                 
Class B common stock                 

Balance at beginning of period   (0.6)   (0.6)   (0.6)   (0.6)
Exercise of stock options, restricted stock awards and other   -   -   -   -
Balance at end of period   (0.6)   (0.6)   (0.6)   (0.6)

                 
Paid-in Capital                 

Balance at beginning of period   27.4   28.0   28.8   28.0
Exercise of stock options, restricted stock awards and other   0.3   1.3   (1.1)   1.3
Balance at end of period   27.7   29.3   27.7   29.3

                 
Earnings Invested in the Business                 

Balance at beginning of period   678.3   617.5   657.5   597.6
Net earnings   16.6   19.7   41.2   39.6
Dividends   (1.9)   (1.9)   (5.7)   (1.9)
Balance at end of period   693.0   635.3   693.0   635.3

                 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income                 

Balance at beginning of period   25.7   40.3   16.2   29.0
Other comprehensive income, net of tax   5.3   (19.4)   14.8   (8.1)
Balance at end of period   31.0   20.9   31.0   20.9

                 
Stockholders' Equity at end of period  $ 728.7  $ 657.0  $ 728.7  $ 657.0

See accompanying unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)
(In millions of dollars)

 39 Weeks Ended

 Sept. 30,
2012

Oct. 2,
2011

         
Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net earnings  $ 41.2  $ 39.6
Noncash adjustments:         

Depreciation and amortization   16.8   23.9
Provision for bad debts   1.2   3.5
Stock-based compensation   3.7   3.5
Other, net   -   (1.5)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities   (42.0)   (63.4)
         

Net cash from operating activities 20.9   5.6
         
         
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Capital expenditures   (13.9)   (10.0)
Other investing activities   0.1   1.0

         
Net cash from investing activities   (13.8)   (9.0)

         
         
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Net change in short-term borrowings   (12.6)   61.9
Repayment of debt   -   (62.9)
Dividend payments   (5.7)   (1.9)
Other financing activities   0.1   (1.0)

         
Net cash from financing activities   (18.2)   (3.9)

         
Effect of exchange rates on cash and equivalents   0.4   0.3
         
Net change in cash and equivalents   (10.7)   (7.0)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period   81.0   80.5
         
         
Cash and equivalents at end of period  $ 70.3  $ 73.5

See accompanying unaudited Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
 
1. Basis of Presentation
 
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Kelly Services, Inc. (the “Company,” “Kelly,” “we” or “us”) have been prepared in
accordance with Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X and do not include all the information and notes required by generally accepted accounting principles for
complete financial statements. All adjustments, including normal recurring adjustments, have been made which, in the opinion of management, are necessary
for a fair statement of the results of the interim periods. The results of operations for such interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results of
operations for a full year. The unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2012, included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 16, 2012 (the 2011 consolidated financial statements). The Company's third fiscal quarter ended on September 30, 2012
(2012) and October 2, 2011 (2011), each of which contained 13 weeks. The corresponding 2012 and 2011 year-to-date periods each contained 39 weeks.
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated.
 
Effective with the first quarter of 2012, certain vendor management and other technology costs which were previously included in selling, general and
administrative (“SG&A”) expenses are now included in cost of services, and the prior year's results were revised to conform to this presentation. The only
effect of this change was to increase cost of services and decrease SG&A expenses (and gross profit) by $2.9 million in the third quarter of 2011 and $7.9
million in the first nine months of 2011 from those amounts previously reported in 2011.
 
Earnings from discontinued operations represent adjustments to costs of litigation, net of tax, retained from the 2007 sale of the Kelly Home Care business
unit.
 
2. Fair Value Measurements
 
Trade accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, accrued payroll and related taxes and short-term borrowings approximate their fair values due
to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.
 
Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following tables present assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of third quarter-end 2012 and year-end 2011 on the consolidated balance
sheet by fair value hierarchy level, as described below.

Level 1 measurements consist of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  Level 2 measurements include quoted prices in
markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. Level 3
measurements include significant unobservable inputs.
 

 Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis
As of Third Quarter-End 2012

                 
Description Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

 (In millions of dollars)  
Money market funds  $ 2.3  $ 2.3  $ -  $ -
Available-for-sale investment   37.0   37.0   -   -
                 
Total assets at fair value  $ 39.3  $ 39.3  $ -  $ -
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 
2. Fair Value Measurements (continued)
 
 Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

As of Year-End 2011
Description Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

 (In millions of dollars)  
Money market funds  $ 2.0  $ 2.0  $ -  $ -
Available-for-sale investment   27.1   27.1   -   -
                 
Total assets at fair value  $ 29.1  $ 29.1  $ -  $ -

 
Money market funds as of third quarter-end 2012 and as of year-end 2011 represent investments in money market accounts, all of which are restricted as to
use and are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The valuations were based on quoted market prices of
those accounts as of the respective period end.
 
Available-for-sale investment represents the Company's investment in Temp Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Temp Holdings”), a leading integrated human resources
company in Japan, and is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The valuation is based on the quoted market price of Temp Holdings
stock on the Tokyo Stock Exchange as of the period end. The unrealized loss of $0.5 million for the 13 weeks ended 2012 and unrealized loss of $0.6 million
for the 13 weeks ended 2011 was recorded in other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders' equity. The unrealized gain of $9.8 million for the
39 weeks ended 2012 and unrealized loss of $1.1 million for the 39 weeks ended 2011 was recorded in other comprehensive income.
 
3. Acquisition
 
During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company acquired the stock of Tradição Planejamento e Tecnologia de Serviços S.A. and Tradição Tecnologia e
Serviços Ltda. (collectively, “Tradição”), a national service provider in Brazil, for $6.6 million in cash. The following table summarizes the purchase price
allocation at the time of purchase, along with measurement period adjustments recognized during the 39 weeks ended 2012. The purchase price allocation is
still preliminary, subject to further information relating to certain liabilities assumed.
 

 Original
Allocation Adjustments

Revised
Allocation

 (In millions of dollars)
Current assets  $ 6.3  $ -  $ 6.3
Goodwill   22.9   1.0   23.9
Identified intangibles   5.3   0.4   5.7
Other noncurrent assets   0.7   -   0.7
Current liabilities   (14.4)   (0.6)   (15.0)
Noncurrent liabilities   (14.2)   (0.8)   (15.0)
             
Total purchase price  $ 6.6  $ -  $ 6.6

 
The acquisition adjustments relate to an increase in Tradição's estimated identified intangibles balance, acquired contingency reserves and tax liabilities
assumed.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 
4. Restructuring
 
Restructuring costs incurred in the first nine months of 2012 amounted to income of $2.2 million. Restructuring costs incurred in the third quarter and first
nine months of 2011 amounted to income of $0.6 million and expense of $2.8 million, respectively. These costs primarily related to adjustments to estimated
lease termination costs for EMEA Commercial branches that closed in prior years, and were reported as a component of SG&A expenses. Total costs incurred
since July 2008 for our restructuring efforts amounted to $44.2 million.
 
A summary of the balance sheet accrual related to the global restructuring costs follows (in millions of dollars):
 

Balance at beginning of year  $ 4.5
     
Reductions for cash payments   (0.2)
     
Balance at first quarter-end 2012   4.3
     
Amounts charged (credited) to operations   (2.2)
Reductions for cash payments   (0.6)
     
Balance at second quarter-end 2012   1.5
     
Reductions for cash payments   (0.1)
     
Balance at third quarter-end 2012  $ 1.4

 
The remaining balance of $1.4 million as of the 2012 third quarter end represents primarily future lease payments and is expected to be paid by 2016. On a
quarterly basis, the Company reassesses the accrual associated with restructuring costs and adjusts it as necessary.

5. Investment in Joint Venture 

On July 24, 2012, Temp Holdings Co., Ltd. and the Company entered into a joint venture agreement to expand both companies' presence in North Asia. The
joint venture, TS Kelly Workforce Solutions (“TS Kelly”), is headquartered in Hong Kong and is expected to become effective in the fourth quarter of 2012.
Under the terms of the agreement, Toshio Saburi, Executive Managing Director of Temp Holdings Co., Ltd. and board member of the Company, was
appointed chief executive officer of TS Kelly.
 
In connection with this agreement, during the third quarter of 2012, the Company purchased the 30% noncontrolling interest in its Shanghai subsidiary from
Shanghai Changning Talent Development Co. Ltd, and recorded a charge to paid-in capital of $1.1 million for the difference between the carrying value of the
noncontrolling interest and the fair value of the consideration provided.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 
6. Goodwill
 
The changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill during the 39 weeks ended 2012 are included in the table below. See Acquisition footnote for a
description of adjustments to goodwill.
 

 
Goodwill,

Gross
as of

Year-End
2011

Accumulated
Impairment

Losses
as of

Year-End
2011

Adjustments
to

Goodwill
Impairment

Losses

Goodwill,
Gross
as of
Third

Quarter-End
2012

Accumulated
Impairment

Losses
as of
Third

Quarter
End 2012

Goodwill,
Net
as of
Third

Quarter-End
2012

 (In millions of dollars)
Americas                             

Americas Commercial  $ 39.3  $ (16.4)  $ 1.0  $ -  $ 40.3  $ (16.4)  $ 23.9
Americas PT   39.2   -   -   -   39.2   -   39.2

Total Americas   78.5   (16.4)   1.0   -   79.5   (16.4)   63.1
                             
EMEA                             

EMEA Commercial   50.4   (50.4)   -   -   50.4   (50.4)   -
EMEA PT   22.0   (22.0)   -   -   22.0   (22.0)   -

Total EMEA   72.4   (72.4)   -   -   72.4   (72.4)   -
                             
APAC                             

APAC Commercial   12.1   (12.1)   -   -   12.1   (12.1)   -
APAC PT   1.8   -   -   -   1.8   -   1.8

Total APAC   13.9   (12.1)   -   -   13.9   (12.1)   1.8
                             

OCG   26.3   -   -   -   26.3   -   26.3
                             
Consolidated Total  $ 191.1  $ (100.9)  $ 1.0  $ -  $ 192.1  $ (100.9)  $ 91.2
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 KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 
7. Earnings Per Share
 
The reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share on common stock for the 13 and 39 weeks ended 2012 and 2011 follows (in millions of dollars
except per share data):
 
 13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
 2012 2011 2012 2011
                 
Earnings from continuing operations  $ 16.6  $ 19.7  $ 40.8  $ 40.8
Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities   (0.5)   (0.5)   (1.1)   (0.9)
Earnings from continuing operations available to common shareholders  $ 16.1  $ 19.2  $ 39.7  $ 39.9
                 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  $ -  $ -  $ 0.4  $ (1.2)
Less: Earnings (loss) allocated to participating securities   -   -   -   -
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations available to common shareholders  $ -  $ -  $ 0.4  $ (1.2)
                 
Net Earnings  $ 16.6  $ 19.7  $ 41.2  $ 39.6
Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities   (0.5)   (0.5)   (1.1)   (0.9)
Net Earnings available to common shareholders  $ 16.1  $ 19.2  $ 40.1  $ 38.7
                 
Basic earnings (loss) per share on common stock:                 

Earnings from continuing operations  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.07  $ 1.09
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  $ -  $ -  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)
Net earnings  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.09  $ 1.05

                 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share on common stock:                 

Earnings from continuing operations  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.07  $ 1.09
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  $ -  $ -  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)
Net earnings  $ 0.43  $ 0.52  $ 1.09  $ 1.05

                 
Average common shares outstanding (millions)                 

Basic   37.1   36.8   37.0   36.8
Diluted   37.1   36.8   37.0   36.8

 
Stock options representing 0.4 million and 0.6 million shares, respectively, for the 13 weeks ended 2012 and 2011, and 0.4 million and 0.6 million shares,
respectively, for the 39 weeks ended 2012 and 2011 were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive effect.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 
8. Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company adopted an amendment and restatement of the Kelly Services, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) effective December 31, 2011, which was
approved by the Company stockholders in May 2012. Under the Plan, the Company may grant stock options (both incentive and nonqualified), stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and performance awards to key employees utilizing the Company's Class A stock. The Plan
provides that the maximum number of shares available for grants is 10 percent of the outstanding Class A stock, adjusted for Plan activity over the preceding
five years. The Company issues shares out of treasury stock to satisfy stock-based awards.

Restricted Stock
Restricted stock awards and units (collectively, “restricted stock”), which typically vest over a period of 3 to 5 years, are issued to certain key employees and
are subject to forfeiture until the end of an established restriction period. The Company utilizes the market price on the date of grant as the fair market value
of restricted stock and expenses the fair value on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
 
A summary of the status of nonvested restricted stock under the Plan as of the 13 and 39 weeks ended 2012 and changes during these periods are presented as
follows:
 

 Restricted
Stock

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at year-end 2011   907,990  $ 17.41
Granted   21,200   15.02
Vested   (23,075)   15.08
Forfeited   (400)   18.25
Nonvested at first quarter-end 2012   905,715   17.41
Granted   480,700   12.91
Vested   (191,975)   18.15
Forfeited   (1,650)   16.30
Nonvested at second quarter-end 2012   1,192,790   15.48
Granted   9,300   11.99
Vested   (4,290)   14.36
Forfeited   (5,500)   15.88
Nonvested at third quarter-end 2012   1,192,300  $ 15.46
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 
9. Other (Expense) Income, Net
 
Included in other (expense) income, net for the 13 and 39 weeks ended 2012 and 2011 are the following:
 

 13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 (In millions of dollars) (In millions of dollars)
Interest income  $ 0.1  $ 0.3  $ 0.9  $ 0.8
Interest expense   (0.7)   (0.7)   (2.6)   (2.6)
Dividend income   -   -   0.3   0.2
Foreign exchange (losses) gains   (0.1)   1.5   (0.4)   1.6
Other   -   (0.1)   -   (0.1)
                 
Other (expense) income, net  $ (0.7)  $ 1.0  $ (1.8)  $ (0.1)

 
 
10. Contingencies
 
The Company is continuously engaged in litigation arising in the ordinary course of its business, typically matters alleging employment discrimination,
alleging wage and hour violations or enforcing the restrictive covenants in the Company's employment agreements. While there is no expectation that any of
these matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows, litigation is always subject to
inherent uncertainty and the Company is not able to reasonably predict if any matter will be resolved in a manner that is materially adverse to the Company.
 
 
11. Segment Disclosures
 
The Company's segments are based on the organizational structure for which financial results are regularly evaluated by the Company's chief operating
decision maker to determine resource allocation and assess performance. The Company's seven reporting segments are: (1) Americas Commercial, (2)
Americas Professional and Technical (“Americas PT”), (3) Europe, Middle East and Africa Commercial (“EMEA Commercial”), (4) Europe, Middle East
and Africa Professional and Technical (“EMEA PT”), (5) Asia Pacific Commercial (“APAC Commercial”), (6) Asia Pacific Professional and Technical
(“APAC PT”) and (7) Outsourcing and Consulting Group (“OCG”).
 
The Commercial business segments within the Americas, EMEA and APAC regions represent traditional office services, contact-center staffing, marketing,
electronic assembly, light industrial and, in the Americas, substitute teachers. The PT segments encompass a wide range of highly skilled temporary
employees, including scientists, financial professionals, attorneys, engineers, IT specialists and healthcare workers. OCG includes recruitment process
outsourcing (“RPO”), contingent workforce outsourcing (“CWO”), business process outsourcing (“BPO”), payroll process outsourcing (“PPO”), executive
placement and career transition/outplacement (“CTO”) services. Corporate expenses that directly support the operating units have been allocated to the
Americas, EMEA and APAC regions and OCG based on a work effort, volume or, in the absence of a readily available measurement process, proportionately
based on revenue from services.
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KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 

11. Segment Disclosures (continued)
 
The following tables present information about the reported revenue from services and gross profit of the Company by segment, along with a reconciliation to
consolidated earnings before taxes, for the 13 and 39 weeks ended 2012 and 2011. Asset information by reportable segment is not presented, since the
Company does not produce such information internally, nor does it use such data to manage its business. Our segments themselves did not change from prior
periods, however, effective with the first quarter of 2012, we changed the manner in which we evaluate and internally report segments, such that our primary
measure of segment performance is now gross profit. Historically, our primary measure of segment performance was gross profit less an allocation of SG&A
expenses. We revised the prior period's segment results to conform to the current manner in which we evaluate segment performance.
 
 
 13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 (In millions of dollars) (In millions of dollars)
Revenue from Services:                 
Americas Commercial  $ 642.2  $ 661.7  $ 1,980.1  $ 1,985.3
Americas PT   261.6   250.8   774.1   739.1

Total Americas Commercial and PT   903.8   912.5   2,754.2   2,724.4
                 
EMEA Commercial   214.5   261.0   641.2   751.3
EMEA PT   41.5   46.8   125.3   134.0

Total EMEA Commercial and PT   256.0   307.8   766.5   885.3
                 
APAC Commercial   85.7   101.8   258.3   303.8
APAC PT   14.3   14.1   39.9   39.1

Total APAC Commercial and PT   100.0   115.9   298.2   342.9
                 
OCG   104.7   80.7   282.8   222.9
                 
Less: Intersegment revenue   (10.3)   (7.1)   (26.6)   (20.8)
                 

Consolidated Total  $ 1,354.2  $ 1,409.8  $ 4,075.1  $ 4,154.7
 

 
15



 
 

KELLY SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
 

11. Segment Disclosures (continued)
 
 13 Weeks Ended 39 Weeks Ended
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 (In millions of dollars) (In millions of dollars)
Earnings from Operations:                 
Americas Commercial gross profit  $ 96.4  $ 93.6  $ 292.1  $ 278.9
Americas PT gross profit   40.9   37.9   120.8   109.8

Americas Region gross profit   137.3   131.5   412.9   388.7
Americas Region SG&A expenses   (101.5)   (97.7)   (303.4)   (296.3)

Americas Region Earnings from Operations   35.8   33.8   109.5   92.4
                 
EMEA Commercial gross profit   33.4   42.1   101.1   121.6
EMEA PT gross profit   10.5   12.7   32.7   36.1

EMEA Region gross profit   43.9   54.8   133.8   157.7
EMEA Region SG&A expenses   (40.0)   (46.7)   (124.2)   (143.3)

EMEA Region Earnings from Operations   3.9   8.1   9.6   14.4
                 
APAC Commercial gross profit   12.8   14.7   38.4   42.5
APAC PT gross profit   6.2   5.6   16.7   16.2

APAC Region gross profit 19.0 20.3   55.1   58.7
APAC Region SG&A expenses   (18.8)   (19.8)   (57.5)   (59.1)

APAC Region Earnings from Operations   0.2   0.5   (2.4)   (0.4)
                 
OCG gross profit   28.2   19.8   75.0   55.8
OCG SG&A expenses   (24.2)   (20.0)   (69.6)   (59.2)

OCG Earnings from Operations   4.0   (0.2)   5.4   (3.4)
                 
Corporate   (19.9)   (20.1)   (59.6)   (58.0)
                 

Consolidated Total   24.0   22.1   62.5   45.0
                 
Other (Expense) Income, Net   (0.7)   1.0   (1.8)   (0.1)
                 
Earnings Before Taxes  $ 23.3  $ 23.1  $ 60.7  $ 44.9

 
12. New Accounting Pronouncements
 
None.
 
 
13. Subsequent Event
 
In October 2012, management made the decision to no longer pursue our PeopleSoft billing system implementation project in the U.S., Canada and Puerto
Rico. Accordingly, based on the estimated costs to complete, management terminated the project at that time and will record pretax charges of approximately
$3.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2012 to write off previously capitalized costs associated with the PeopleSoft billing system. Because management
had not made the decision to abandon the PeopleSoft billing system project until the fourth quarter, we have determined this matter to be a fourth quarter
accounting event.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 

Executive Overview
 

The third quarter of 2012 offered no relief from the global economic headwinds faced in the first half of the year, as conditions across Europe continued to
decline. The U.S. recovery softened further in response to Europe's ongoing crises, anxiety over the fiscal cliff and uncertainty leading up to the presidential
election.
 
Kelly achieved solid results amidst these conditions. Despite a 4% year-over-year decrease in third quarter revenue, we continued to make progress in our
targeted strategic focus areas. In particular:
 

● Our gross profit rate improved to 16.8%, compared to 16.0% in the third quarter of 2011. Twenty basis points of this improvement was due to
changes in estimates of open workers' compensation claims.

 
● SG&A expenses were relatively flat in comparison to the prior year.

 
● Earnings from operations increased year over year by $2 million.

 
● OCG continued to deliver strong year-over-year results, with earnings increasing by more than $4 million.

 
● PT revenue growth rates outpaced commercial growth rates in all three regions.

 
We remain focused on achieving a competitive return on sales by growing our professional and technical, fee-based and other higher margin offerings, and
maintaining our lower cost of service delivery. Though the recovery is slow, we believe long-term demand for our services will continue to increase. We are
committed to responding to customers' needs for flexible, innovative solutions for managing their workforce – from traditional staffing to professional and
technical specialties to outsourcing and consulting programs.
 

Total Company - Third Quarter
(Dollars in millions)

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 1,354.2  $ 1,409.8   (3.9)%   (1.0)%
Fee-based income   38.2   36.7   3.5   8.3
Gross profit   227.5   225.7   0.7   4.0
SG&A expenses excluding restructuring charges   203.5   204.2   (0.4)     
Restructuring charges   -   (0.6)   (100.0)     
Total SG&A expenses   203.5   203.6   (0.1)   3.2
Earnings from operations   24.0   22.1   8.5     
                 
Gross profit rate   16.8%   16.0%   0.8pts.     
Expense rates (excluding restructuring charges):                 

% of revenue   15.0   14.5   0.5     
% of gross profit   89.4   90.4   (1.0)     

Operating margin   1.8   1.6   0.2     
 
Operating margin (earnings from operations divided by revenue from services) in the above and following tables is a ratio used to measure the Company's
pricing strategy and operating efficiency. Constant currency (“CC”) change amounts are non-GAAP measures. CC change amounts in the above and
following tables refer to the year-over-year percentage changes resulting from translating 2012 financial data into U.S. dollars using the same foreign
currency exchange rates used to translate financial data for 2011. We believe that CC measurements are an important analytical tool to aid in understanding
underlying operating trends without distortion due to currency fluctuations.
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Total Company revenue for the third quarter of 2012 was down 4% in comparison to the prior year, and down 5% excluding the Company's acquisition of
Tradição in Brazil late last year. CC revenue for the third quarter of 2012 was down 1% in comparison to the prior year, and down 2% excluding Tradição.
This reflected a 12% decrease in hours worked, partially offset by a 9% increase in average bill rates on a CC basis.
 
Effective with the first quarter of 2012, certain vendor management and other technology costs which were previously included in SG&A expenses are now
included in cost of services, and the prior year's results were revised to conform to this presentation. The effect of this change was to increase cost of services
and decrease SG&A expenses (and gross profit) by $3 million in the third quarter of 2011.
 
Compared to the third quarter of 2011, the gross profit rate improved due to stronger performance from the OCG segment and an improved temporary gross
profit rate in the Americas and APAC regions. The improvement in the Americas' temporary gross profit rate was primarily due to lower workers'
compensation costs. We regularly update our estimates of open workers' compensation claims. Due to favorable development of claims and payment data, we
reduced our estimated costs of prior year workers' compensation claims by $4 million in the third quarter of 2012. This compares to an adjustment reducing
prior year workers' compensation claims by $1 million for the third quarter of 2011.
  
Income tax expense for the third quarter of 2012 was $7 million (28.9%), compared to $3 million (14.6%) for the third quarter of 2011.  The increase in 2012
tax expense is primarily due to reduced tax credits.  The 2011 expense included the favorable impact of the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment
(“HIRE”) Act retention credits, which were available only in 2011, and work opportunity credits.  In 2012, work opportunity credits are available only for
employees hired in prior years and certain U.S. veterans, due to expiration of the program at the end of 2011.  While the work opportunity credit program has
expired and been retroactively reinstated many times in the past, extension of this program is uncertain. 
 
Diluted earnings from continuing operations per share for the third quarter of 2012 were $0.43, as compared to $0.52 for the third quarter of 2011.
 

Total Americas - Third Quarter
(Dollars in millions)

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 903.8  $ 912.5   (1.0)%   (0.3)%
Fee-based income   8.1   6.4   25.2   27.1
Gross profit   137.3   131.5   4.4   5.1
Total SG&A expenses   101.5   97.7   4.0   4.9
Earnings from operations   35.8   33.8   5.8     
                 
Gross profit rate   15.2%   14.4%   0.8pts.     
Expense rates:                 

% of revenue   11.2   10.7   0.5     
% of gross profit   73.9   74.2   (0.3)     

Operating margin   4.0   3.7   0.3     
 
On an organic basis, excluding the Tradição acquisition, CC revenue decreased by 2%. This is attributable to a 5% decrease in hours worked, partially offset
by a 3% increase in average bill rates on a CC basis. On a CC basis, the PT segment grew by 4%, while the Commercial segment, excluding Tradição,
declined 5%. Americas represented 67% of total Company revenue in the third quarter of 2012 and 65% in the third quarter of 2011.
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The change in the gross profit rate was primarily due to improved pricing, lower workers' compensation costs noted above and higher fee-based income in
both the Commercial and PT segments. On an organic basis, Americas SG&A expenses increased 2% in comparison to last year, due primarily to
performance-based compensation pay.
 
Fee-based income, which is included in revenue from services, has a significant impact on gross profit rates. There are very low direct costs of services
associated with fee-based income. Therefore, increases or decreases in fee-based income can have a disproportionate impact on gross profit rates.
 

Total EMEA - Third Quarter
(Dollars in millions)

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 256.0  $ 307.8   (16.8)%   (6.9)%
Fee-based income   9.3   11.8   (21.8)   (13.3)
Gross profit   43.9   54.8   (19.9)   (10.3)
SG&A expenses excluding restructuring charges   40.0   47.3   (15.6)     
Restructuring charges   -   (0.6)   (100.0)     
Total SG&A expenses   40.0   46.7   (14.5)   (4.6)
Earnings from operations   3.9   8.1   (51.3)     
                 
Gross profit rate   17.1%   17.8%   (0.7)pts.     
Expense rates (excluding restructuring charges):                 

% of revenue   15.6   15.4   0.2     
% of gross profit   91.1   86.4   4.7     

Operating margin   1.5   2.6   (1.1)     
 
The change in EMEA revenue from services reflected an 11% decrease in hours worked, due to the unfavorable economic environment, partially offset by a
5% increase in average bill rates on a CC basis. The increase in average bill rate is due to a change in country mix. On a CC basis, the Commercial segment
declined 8% and the PT segment declined 1%. EMEA represented 19% of total Company revenue in the third quarter of 2012 and 22% in the third quarter of
2011.
 
The EMEA gross profit rate decreased due to margin erosion and customer mix in the Commercial segment, and a decline in fee-based income in both the
Commercial and PT segments. The decrease in SG&A expenses was primarily due to decreases in the workforce in the Commercial segment in line with the
level of activity, partially offset by some targeted investments in the PT segment.
 

Total APAC - Third Quarter
(Dollars in millions)

 

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 100.0  $ 115.9   (13.7)%   (11.1)%
Fee-based income   7.7   8.0   (4.5)   (1.5)
Gross profit 19.0 20.3   (6.9)   (4.2)
Total SG&A expenses   18.8   19.8   (4.9)   (2.2)
Earnings from operations   0.2   0.5   (78.0)     
                 
Gross profit rate   18.9%   17.6%   1.3pts.     
Expense rates:                 

% of revenue   18.8   17.1   1.7     
% of gross profit   99.3   97.2   2.1     

Operating margin   0.1   0.5   (0.4)     
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The change in total APAC revenue represents a 40% decrease in hours worked and a decrease in fee-based income, partially offset by a 46% increase in
average bill rates on a CC basis. The Company has exited a number of low-margin customers in Australia and India, resulting in the significant increase in
average bill rates and significant decrease in hours worked. APAC revenue represented 7% of total Company revenue in the third quarter of 2012 and 8% in
the third quarter of 2011.
 
The change in the APAC gross profit rate also reflects the decision to exit low-margin Commercial customers in Australia and India. Fee-based income was
down due to slower conversions from more developed countries, partially offset by growth in China. The change in SG&A expenses was due to a decrease in
full-time salaries related to a reduction in headcount.
 

OCG - Third Quarter
(Dollars in millions)

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 104.7  $ 80.7   29.7%   30.9%
Fee-based income   13.2   10.5   25.3   29.1
Gross profit   28.2   19.8   42.8   45.4
Total SG&A expenses   24.2   20.0   20.5   23.6
Earnings from operations   4.0   (0.2) NM     
                 
Gross profit rate   27.0%   24.5%   2.5pts.     
Expense rates:                 

% of revenue   23.1   24.9   (1.8)     
% of gross profit   85.5   101.3   (15.8)     

Operating margin   3.9   (0.3)   4.2     
 
Revenue from services in the OCG segment for the third quarter of 2012 increased 30% from the third quarter of 2011. This growth was driven by the three
core elements of our talent supply chain management strategy: BPO, CWO and RPO practice areas.  Revenue in BPO was up 53% year over year due
primarily to high demand in our contact center solution within that practice, as well as an increase in our more traditional BPO solutions within the Americas. 
Fee revenue was up 44% in our CWO practice.  RPO revenue was up 42% due to new client programs in the Americas, as well as continued revenue growth
in our EMEA programs.  OCG revenue represented 8% of total Company revenue in the third quarter of 2012 and 6% in the third quarter of 2011.
 
The OCG gross profit rate increased primarily due to mix as volume increased in the higher margin RPO and CWO practice areas. The increase in SG&A
expenses is primarily the result of servicing costs associated with the expansion of customer programs, as well as costs associated with new customer program
implementations. While we expect OCG to remain profitable in the fourth quarter, we expect profits to decline from third quarter levels due to the completion
of two major projects.
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Total Company - September Year to Date
(Dollars in millions)

 

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 4,075.1  $ 4,154.7   (1.9)%   0.3%
Fee-based income   113.8   104.2   9.1   12.8
Gross profit   674.4   659.0   2.3   4.7
SG&A expenses excluding restructuring charges   614.1   611.2   0.4     
Restructuring charges   (2.2)   2.8   (177.7)     
Total SG&A expenses   611.9   614.0   (0.4)   2.0
Earnings from operations   62.5   45.0   38.8     
                 
Gross profit rate   16.5%   15.9%   0.6pts.     
Expense rates (excluding restructuring charges):                 

% of revenue   15.1   14.7   0.4     
% of gross profit   91.1   92.7   (1.6)     

Operating margin   1.5   1.1   0.4     
  
Total Company revenue for the first nine months of 2012 was down 2% in comparison to the prior year, and declined 3% excluding the Company's
acquisition of Tradição. On a CC basis, total Company revenue was up slightly and down 1% excluding the Company's acquisition of Tradição. This reflected
a 10% decrease in hours worked, partially offset by a 9% increase in average bill rates on a CC basis.
 
Effective with the first quarter of 2012, certain vendor management and other technology costs which were previously included in SG&A expenses are now
included in cost of services, and the prior year's results were revised to conform to this presentation. The effect of this change was to increase cost of services
and decrease SG&A expenses (and gross profit) by $8 million in the first nine months of 2011.
 
Compared to the first nine months of 2011, the gross profit rate improved due to higher fee-based income and an improved temporary gross profit rate in the
Americas and APAC regions and the OCG segment. The improvement in the Americas' temporary gross profit rate was primarily due to lower workers'
compensation costs. We regularly update our estimates of open workers' compensation claims. As a result, we reduced our estimated costs of prior year
workers' compensation by $8 million for the first nine months of 2012. This compares to an adjustment reducing prior year workers' compensation claims by
$3 million for the first nine months of 2011.
 
SG&A expenses excluding restructuring increased slightly year over year due primarily to the Tradição acquisition. Restructuring costs related primarily to
revisions of the estimated lease termination costs for previously closed EMEA Commercial branches.
 
Income tax expense for the first nine months of 2012 was $20 million (32.8%), compared to $4 million (9.1%) for the first nine months of 2011. The 2011
expense included the favorable impact of the HIRE Act retention credits, which were available only in 2011, and work opportunity credits.  In 2012, work
opportunity credits are available only for employees hired in prior years and certain U.S. veterans, due to expiration of the program at the end of 2011.  While
the work opportunity credit program has expired and been retroactively reinstated many times in the past, extension of this program is uncertain.
 
Diluted earnings from continuing operations per share for the first nine months of 2012 were $1.07, as compared to $1.09 for the first nine months of 2011.
 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations for the first nine months of 2012 and 2011 represent adjustments to the estimated costs of litigation, net of tax,
retained from the 2007 sale of the Kelly Home Care business unit.
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Total Americas - September Year to Date
(Dollars in millions)

 

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 2,754.2  $ 2,724.4   1.1%   1.8%
Fee-based income   23.4   18.5   26.1   27.8
Gross profit   412.9   388.7   6.2   6.9
Total SG&A expenses   303.4   296.3   2.4   3.2
Earnings from operations   109.5   92.4   18.3     
                 
Gross profit rate   15.0%   14.3%   0.7pts.     
Expense rates:                 

% of revenue   11.0   10.9   0.1     
% of gross profit   73.5   76.2   (2.7)     

Operating margin   4.0   3.4   0.6     
  
On an organic basis, excluding the Tradição acquisition, CC revenue was essentially flat. This was attributable to a 4% increase in average bill rates on a CC
basis, offset by a 4% decrease in hours worked. During the first nine months of 2012, the PT segment grew by 5%, while the Commercial segment, excluding
Tradição, declined 2%. Americas represented 68% of total Company revenue in the first nine months of 2012 and 66% in the first nine months of 2011.
 
The change in the gross profit rate was primarily due to lower payroll taxes and higher fee-based income, combined with favorable adjustments to prior year
workers' compensation costs noted above in both the Commercial and PT segments. On an organic basis, Americas SG&A expenses declined slightly,
reflecting lower salary costs due to vacant positions and lower facilities costs throughout the region.
 

Total EMEA - September Year to Date
(Dollars in millions)

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 766.5  $ 885.3   (13.4)%   (6.3)%
Fee-based income   30.6   33.9   (9.8)   (2.8)
Gross profit   133.8   157.7   (15.2)   (8.1)
SG&A expenses excluding restructuring charges   126.4   140.5   (10.2)     
Restructuring charges   (2.2)   2.8   (177.7)     
Total SG&A expenses   124.2   143.3   (13.4)   (6.6)
Earnings from operations   9.6   14.4   (32.7)     
                 
Gross profit rate   17.5%   17.8%   (0.3)pts.     
Expense rates (excluding restructuring charges):                 

% of revenue   16.5   15.9   0.6     
% of gross profit   94.4   89.2   5.2     

Operating margin   1.3   1.6   (0.3)     
 
The change in EMEA revenue from services reflected a 12% decrease in hours worked, due to the unfavorable economic environment, partially offset by a
6% increase in average bill rates on a CC basis. The increase in average bill rates is due to a change in country mix. EMEA represented 19% of total
Company revenue in the first nine months of 2012 and 21% in the first nine months of 2011.
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The EMEA gross profit rate decreased due to margin erosion and customer mix in the Commercial segment. The decrease in SG&A expenses excluding
restructuring charges was primarily due to decreases in the workforce in the Commercial segment in line with the level of activity, partially offset by some
targeted investments in the PT segment.
 

Total APAC - September Year to Date
(Dollars in millions)

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 298.2  $ 342.9   (13.0)%   (11.5)%
Fee-based income   22.2   23.2   (4.3)   (2.6)
Gross profit   55.1   58.7   (6.2)   (4.8)
Total SG&A expenses   57.5   59.1   (2.8)   (1.3)
Earnings from operations   (2.4)   (0.4)   (440.3)     
                 
Gross profit rate   18.5%   17.1%   1.4pts.    
Expense rates:                 

% of revenue 19.3   17.2   2.1     
% of gross profit   104.4   100.8   3.6     

Operating margin   (0.8)   (0.1)   (0.7)     
 
The change in total APAC revenue reflected a 33% decrease in hours worked and a decrease in fee-based income, partially offset by a 31% increase in
average bill rates on a CC basis. The Company has exited a number of low-margin customers in Australia and India, resulting in the significant increase in
average bill rates and significant decrease in hours worked. APAC revenue represented 7% of total Company revenue in the first nine months of 2012 and 8%
in the first nine months of 2011.
 
The change in the APAC gross profit rate also reflects the decision to exit low-margin Commercial customers in Australia and India. Fee-based income was
down due to slower conversions from more developed countries, partially offset by growth in China.  
 

OCG - September Year to Date
(Dollars in millions)

 2012 2011 Change
CC

Change
Revenue from services  $ 282.8  $ 222.9   26.8%   27.9%
Fee-based income   37.6   28.7   31.1   33.9
Gross profit   75.0   55.8   34.3   36.4
Total SG&A expenses   69.6   59.2   17.3   19.5
Earnings from operations   5.4   (3.4) NM     
                 
Gross profit rate   26.5%   25.1%   1.4pts.     
Expense rates:                 

% of revenue   24.6   26.6   (2.0)     
% of gross profit   92.8   106.2   (13.4)     

Operating margin   1.9   (1.6)   3.5     
 
Revenue from services in the OCG segment for the first nine months of 2012 increased in the Americas, EMEA and APAC regions, due primarily to growth
in our BPO, PPO, RPO and CWO practices. This growth is due to both new programs in these practice areas as well as the continued expansion of existing
programs. OCG revenue represented 7% of total Company revenue in the first nine months of 2012 and 5% in the first nine months of 2011.
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The OCG gross profit rate increased primarily due to improved mix, as volume increased in the higher margin BPO, RPO and CWO practice areas. The
increase in SG&A expenses is primarily the result of support costs associated with new customer programs, as well as increased volumes on existing
programs in our BPO and CWO practice areas.
 

Financial Condition
 
Historically, we have financed our operations through cash generated by operating activities and access to credit markets. Our working capital requirements
are primarily generated from temporary employee payroll and customer accounts receivable. Since receipts from customers generally lag payroll to temporary
employees, working capital requirements increase substantially in periods of growth. Conversely, when economic activity slows, working capital
requirements may substantially decrease. As highlighted in the consolidated statements of cash flows, our liquidity and available capital resources are
impacted by four key components: cash and equivalents, operating activities, investing activities and financing activities.
 
Cash and Equivalents
 
Cash and equivalents totaled $70 million at the end of the third quarter of 2012 and $81 million at year-end 2011. As further described below, we generated
$21 million in cash from operating activities, used $14 million of cash for investing activities and used $18 million of cash for financing activities.
 
Operating Activities
 
In the first nine months of 2012, we generated $21 million in cash from operating activities, as compared to generating $6 million in the first nine months of
2011. The increase in cash generated was due primarily to slowing year-to-date growth in working capital requirements.
 
Trade accounts receivable totaled $1.0 billion at the end of the first nine months of 2012. Global days sales outstanding were 54 days at the end of the first
nine months of 2012, compared to 52 days at the end of the first nine months of 2011.
 
Our working capital position was $466 million at the end of the first nine months of 2012, an increase of $49 million from year-end 2011. The current ratio
was 1.6 at the end of the first nine months of 2012 and 2011.
 
Investing Activities
 
In the first nine months of 2012, we used $14 million of cash for investing activities, compared to using $9 million in the first nine months of 2011. Capital
expenditures in both years relate primarily to the Company's information technology programs, including costs for the implementation of the PeopleSoft
payroll, billing and accounts receivable project.
 
In October 2012, management made the decision to no longer pursue our PeopleSoft billing system implementation project in the U.S., Canada and Puerto
Rico. Accordingly, based on the estimated costs to complete, management terminated the project at that time and will record pretax charges of approximately
$3 million during the fourth quarter of 2012 to write off previously capitalized costs associated with the PeopleSoft billing system.
 
Financing Activities
 
In the first nine months of 2012, we used $18 million of cash for financing activities, compared to using $4 million in the first nine months of 2011. Debt
totaled $84 million at the end of the third quarter of 2012 and $96 million at year-end 2011. Debt-to-total capital (total debt reported on the balance sheet
divided by total debt plus stockholders' equity) is a common ratio to measure the relative capital structure and leverage of the Company. Our ratio of debt-to-
total capital was 10.3% at the end of the third quarter of 2012 and 12.5% at year-end 2011.
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The net change in short-term borrowings in the first nine months of 2012 was due to payments on our U.S. and Brazilian revolving credit facilities totaling
$12 million, combined with payments of $1 million on our securitization facility. The net change in short-term borrowings in the first nine months of 2011
was primarily due to borrowings on our securitization facility of $57 million.   During the first nine months of 2011, we repaid term debt of $63 million.
 
During the first nine months of 2012 and 2011, we made dividend payments of $6 million and $2 million, respectively.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 
None.
 
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. and in various states and foreign countries that are subject to audit by various tax authorities. Our accrual
for unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penalties includes approximately $6 million related to uncertain income tax positions which are
reasonably possible to reverse within the next twelve months due to income tax audits, settlements and statute expirations.
 
There are no other material changes in our obligations and commitments to make future payments from those included in the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed February 16, 2012. We have no material, unrecorded commitments, losses, contingencies or guarantees associated with any related parties or
unconsolidated entities.
 
Liquidity
 
We expect to meet our ongoing short- and long-term cash requirements principally through cash generated from operations, available cash and equivalents,
securitization of customer receivables and committed unused credit facilities. Additional funding sources could include public or private bonds, asset-based
lending, additional bank facilities, issuance of equity or other sources.
 
We utilize intercompany loans, dividends, capital contributions and redemptions to effectively manage our cash on a global basis. We periodically review our
foreign subsidiaries' cash balances and projected cash needs. As part of those reviews, we may identify cash that we feel should be repatriated to optimize the
Company's overall capital structure. At the present time, these reviews have not resulted in any specific plans to repatriate a majority of our international cash
balances. We expect much of our international cash will be needed to fund working capital growth in our local operations. The majority of our international
cash is concentrated in a cash pooling arrangement (the “Cash Pool”) and is available to fund general corporate needs internationally. The Cash Pool is a set
of cash accounts maintained with a single bank that must, as a whole, maintain at least a zero balance; individual accounts may be positive or negative. This
allows countries with excess cash to invest and countries with cash needs to utilize the excess cash.
 
We manage our cash and debt very closely to optimize our capital structure. As our cash balances build, we tend to pay down debt as appropriate. Conversely,
when working capital needs grow, we tend to use corporate cash and cash available in the Cash Pool first, and then access our borrowing facilities.
 
At the 2012 third quarter end, we had $150 million of available capacity on our $150 million revolving credit facility and $11 million of available capacity on
our $150 million securitization facility. The securitization facility carried $83 million of short-term borrowings and $56 million of standby letters of credit
related to workers' compensation. Together, the revolving credit and securitization facilities provide the Company with committed funding capacity that may
be used for general corporate purposes. While we believe these facilities will cover our working capital needs over the short term, if economic conditions or
operating results change significantly, we may need to seek additional sources of funds. As of the 2012 third quarter end, we met the debt covenants related to
our revolving credit facility and securitization facility.
 
We monitor the credit ratings of our major banking partners on a regular basis. We also have regular discussions with them. Based on our reviews and
communications, we believe the risk of one or more of our banks not being able to honor commitments is insignificant. We also review the ratings and
holdings of our money market funds and other investment vehicles regularly to ensure high credit quality and access to our invested cash.
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As of the 2012 third quarter end, we had no holdings of sovereign debt in Italy, Portugal, Ireland, Spain or Greece. Our investment policy requires our
international affiliates to contribute any excess cash balances to the Cash Pool. We then manage this as counterparty exposure and distribute the risk among
our Cash Pool provider and other banks we may designate from time to time.
 
As of the 2012 third quarter end, our total exposure to European receivables from our customers was $276 million, which represents 27% of total trade
accounts receivable, net. The percentage of trade accounts receivable over 90 days past due for Europe was consistent with our global experience. Net trade
accounts receivable for Italy, Portugal and Ireland, specific countries currently experiencing economic volatility, totaled $39 million as of the 2012 third
quarter end, and we have not experienced a significant deterioration in these amounts during the third quarter of 2012.
 

Forward-Looking Statements
 
Certain statements contained in this report are "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements include statements which are predictive in nature, which depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, or which include
words such as "expects,” "anticipates,” "intends,” “plans,” "believes,” “estimates,” or variations or negatives thereof or by similar or comparable words or
phrases. In addition, any statements concerning future financial performance (including future revenues, earnings or growth rates), ongoing business
strategies or prospects, and possible future actions by us that may be provided by management, including oral statements or other written materials released to
the public, are also forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are
subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions about our company and economic and market factors in the countries in which we do business, among other
things. These statements are not guarantees of future performance, and we have no specific intention to update these statements.
 
Actual events and results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in forward-looking statements due to a number of factors. The principal
important risk factors that could cause our actual performance and future events and actions to differ materially from such forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, competitive market pressures including pricing, changing market and economic conditions, our ability to achieve our business
strategy, including our ability to successfully expand into new markets and service lines, material changes in demand from or loss of large corporate
customers, impairment charges triggered by adverse industry or market developments, unexpected termination of customer contracts, availability of
temporary workers with appropriate skills required by customers, liabilities for employment-related claims and losses, including class action lawsuits and
collective actions, liability for improper disclosure of sensitive or private employee information, unexpected changes in claim trends on workers'
compensation and benefit plans, our ability to maintain specified financial covenants in our bank facilities, our ability to access credit markets and continued
availability of financing for funding working capital, our ability to sustain critical business applications through our key data centers, our ability to effectively
implement and manage our information technology programs, our ability to retain the services of our senior management, local management and field
personnel, the impact of changes in laws and regulations (including federal, state and international tax laws and the expiration of the U.S. work opportunity
credit program), the net financial impact of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act on our business, and risks associated with conducting business in
foreign countries, including foreign currency fluctuations. Certain risk factors are discussed more fully under “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 
We are exposed to foreign currency risk primarily due to our net investment in foreign subsidiaries, which conduct business in their local currencies. We may
also utilize local currency-denominated borrowings.
 
In addition, we are exposed to interest rate risks through our use of the multi-currency line of credit and other borrowings. A hypothetical fluctuation of 10%
of market interest rates would not have had a material impact on 2012 third quarter earnings.
 
Marketable equity investments, representing our investment in Temp Holdings, are stated at fair value and marked to market through stockholders' equity, net
of tax. Impairments in value below historical cost, if any, deemed to be other than temporary, would be expensed in the consolidated statement of earnings.
See the Fair Value Measurements footnote in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.
 
We are exposed to market risk as a result of our obligation to pay benefits under our nonqualified deferred compensation plan and our related investments in
company-owned variable universal life insurance policies. The obligation to employees increases and decreases based on movements in the equity and debt
markets. The investments in mutual funds, as part of the company-owned variable universal life insurance policies, are designed to mitigate, but not eliminate,
this risk with offsetting gains and losses.
 
Overall, our holdings and positions in market risk-sensitive instruments do not subject us to material risk.
 
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
 
Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-Q, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the “Exchange Act”)) are effective.
 
During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company acquired the stock of Tradição Planejamento e Tecnologia de Serviços S.A. and Tradição Tecnologia e
Serviços Ltda. (collectively, “Tradição”). As a result of the acquisition, the Company is in the process of reviewing the internal control structure of Tradição
and, if necessary, will make appropriate changes as the Company incorporates its controls and procedures into the acquired business.
 
There were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company's most recent fiscal quarter that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
 
The Company is continuously engaged in litigation arising in the ordinary course of its business, typically matters alleging employment discrimination,
alleging wage and hour violations or enforcing the restrictive covenants in the Company's employment agreements. While there is no expectation that any of
these matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows, litigation is always subject to
inherent uncertainty and the Company is not able to reasonably predict if any matter will be resolved in a manner that is materially adverse to the Company.
 
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
 
There have been no material changes in the Company's risk factors disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of the Company's Annual Report filed on Form 10-K for year
ended January 1, 2012.
 
 
Item 2.     Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

 
(a) Sales of Equity Securities Not Registered Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933

 
None.

 
(c) Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

 

Period

Total Number
of Shares
(or Units)
Purchased

Average
Price Paid
per Share
(or Unit)

Total Number
of Shares (or

Units)
Purchased
as Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans

or Programs

Maximum
Number

(or
Approximate
Dollar Value)

of
Shares (or

Units)
That May Yet

Be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or

Programs
(in millions of

dollars)
                 
July 2, 2012 through August 5, 2012   976  $ 11.67   -  $ -
                 
August 6, 2012 through September 2, 2012   78   12.14   -  $ -
                 
September 3, 2012 through September 30, 2012   350   12.72   -  $ -
                 
Total   1,404  $ 11.95   -     
 
We may reacquire shares sold to cover taxes due upon the vesting of restricted stock held by employees. Accordingly, 1,404 shares were reacquired in
transactions during the quarter.
 
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
 
Not applicable.
 
 
Item 6.     Exhibits.

 
See Index to Exhibits required by Item 601, Regulation S-K, set forth on page 30 of this filing.
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SIGNATURES
 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
 
 
  KELLY SERVICES, INC.  

 

Date: November 7, 2012   
   
  /s/ Patricia Little  

Patricia Little
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
 
 
Date: November 7, 2012  
   
  /s/ Michael E. Debs  
  Michael E. Debs  

Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit No. Description
10.1 Kelly Services, Inc. Short-Term Incentive Plan.
10.2 Kelly Services, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated on December 31, 2011 (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form

10-Q filed with the Commission on August 8, 2012 which is incorporated herein by reference.)
10.3 Kelly Services, Inc. Executive Severance Plan dated April 4, 2006, as amended November 7, 2007.
10.12 Kelly Services, Inc. 2008 Management Retirement Plan - Post 2004.
10.13 First Amendment to the Kelly Services, Inc. 2008 Management Retirement Plan.
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended.
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended.
  
32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
  
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
  
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
  
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Exhibit 10.1
 
 

KELLY SERVICES, INC. SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

 
Section 1 - Purposes.

 
This Kelly Services, Inc. Short-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) provides for annual incentive compensation payable in cash to those key officers

and employees of the Company or any affiliated entity, who, from time to time, may be selected for participation. The Plan is intended to provide
incentives and rewards for the contributions of such employees toward the successful achievement of the Company's financial and business goals
established for the current year.

 
Section 2 - Administration.

 
The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Committee shall have authority to make rules and

adopt administrative procedures in connection with the Plan and shall have discretion to provide for situations or conditions not specifically provided for
herein consistent with the overall purposes of the Plan.

 
Section 3 - Selection of Participants.

 
The Committee may delegate to the chief executive officer of the Company, if also a director, its authority to select those key officers and

employees entitled to participate under the Plan each year. Approval of eligible participants may be made at any time during each award year.
 

Section 4 - Establishing Performance Objectives.
 

The Committee annually, no later than the first quarter of the year, shall establish one or more performance objectives which may consist of
quantitatively measurable performance standards or qualitative performance standards, the achievement of which requires subjective assessment, or both.
With respect to those senior executive officers determined by the Committee most likely to be named in the Summary Compensation Table of the
Company's proxy statement for the following year's Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Named Officers”), the Committee shall apply the special
provisions of Section 7.
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Section 5 - Establishing Target Awards.
 

No later than the first quarter of each year the Committee shall establish a target award, expressed as a percentage of eligible salary for that year
(annual base salary, excluding pay for disability, overtime, bonuses and other reimbursements and allowances), for each officer or other employee selected
to participate under the Plan. Individual participants may earn an award payout ranging from zero percent to the maximum percent of their target award
that the Committee may set in place from time to time. The Committee shall also specify what portion of the target award, if any, is based on the
achievement of the Company performance objective(s) and what portion or portions are based on the achievement of other objectives. The Committee will
establish an award payout schedule based upon the extent to which the Company performance objective (or objectives) is or is not achieved or exceeded.

 
Section 6 - Determining Final Awards.

 
The Committee shall have discretion to adjust final awards up or down from the target award depending on (a) the extent to which the Company

performance objective(s) is either exceeded or not met, and (b) the extent to which other objectives, e.g. subsidiary, division, department, unit or other
performance objectives are attained. The Committee shall have full discretion to make other adjustments in final awards based on individual performance
as it considers appropriate in the circumstances.

 
Section 7 - Special Provisions Applicable to the Named Officers.

 
No later than the first quarter of each year the Committee shall consider the establishment of a Plan target award, expressed as a percentage of

eligible salary, for each of the Named Officers.
 

The Committee shall next establish objective performance standards for the corporate and/or divisional/departmental portions of the awards, and
determine what percentage of the target award, if any, will be based on each such objective performance standard.

 
The Committee will select one or a combination of the following as objective performance standards: pre-tax or after tax corporate earnings for

the year or the equivalent of such amounts in basic or diluted earnings per share, sales, gross profit, earnings from operations, net operating profit after
taxes above the cost of capital, market share, customer satisfaction, quality metrics, shareholder value and return on assets, investment or equity.

 
The Committee shall also specify no later than the first quarter which, if any, types or categories of extraordinary, unusual, non-recurring or other

items of gain or loss shall be excluded or otherwise not taken into account when actual corporate or divisional/departmental results are calculated.
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The Committee will finally establish an award payout schedule based upon the extent to which the objective performance standard(s) is or is not
achieved or exceeded. The Committee retains the right in its discretion to reduce an award based on Company, divisional/departmental or individual
performance, but will have no discretion to increase any award so calculated.

 
In addition to awards based on quantitatively determinable performance standards, the Committee may, in its discretion and acting in the best

interests of the Company, set one or more other incentive goals for a portion or all of a Named Officer's Plan award, the achievement of which need not be
quantitatively determinable but, instead, may require subjective assessments of the quality of performance to which the goals relate (“qualitative
performance standards”). If a qualitative performance standard is established with respect to a Named Officer's Plan target award, the Committee shall
specify at the time of the award what percentage of the total award will be based on that objective. The Committee will, however, have discretion to
increase or decrease that portion of an award which does not qualify for the performance-based exclusion from the Section 162(m) cap on compensation
deductibility.

 
In no event shall the total annual Plan award to a Named Officer, including the non-performance-based portion, exceed $2,000,000 a year.

 
Section 8 - Time of Distribution.

 
Distribution of awards shall be made as soon as practicable following the close of the year for which earned, but in no event later than March 1 of

the year following the award year.
 

Section 9 - Forfeiture.
 

Until such time as the full amount of an award has been paid, a participant's right to receive any unpaid amount shall be wholly contingent and
shall be forfeited if, prior to payment, the participant is no longer in the employ of the Company, provided, however, that the Committee may in its
discretion waive such condition of continued employment. A participant on an approved leave of absence as of the payment date is not eligible to receive
payment of an award until the participant returns to active status. It shall be an overriding precondition to the payment of any award (a) that the participant
not engage in any activity that, in the opinion of the Committee, is in competition with any activity of the Company or any affiliated entity or otherwise
inimical to the best interests of the Company and (b) that the participant furnish the Committee with all such information confirming satisfaction of the
foregoing condition as the Committee shall reasonably request. If the Committee makes a determination that a participant has engaged in any such
competitive or otherwise inimical activity, such determination shall operate to immediately cancel all then unpaid award amounts.
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Section 10 - Death.
 

Any award remaining unpaid, in whole or in part, at the death of a participant shall be paid to the participant's legal representative or to a
beneficiary designated by the participant in accord with rules established by the Committee.

 
Section 11 - No Right to Employment or Award.

 
No person shall have any claim or right to receive an award, and selection to participate in the Plan shall not confer upon any employee a right

with respect to continued employment by the Company. Further the Company and each affiliated entity reaffirms its at-will relationship with its employees
and expressly reserves the right at any time to dismiss a participant free from any liability or claim, except as provided under this Plan.

 
Section 12 - Amendment or Termination.

 
The Board of Directors of the Company reserves the right at any time to make any changes in the Plan as it may consider desirable or may

discontinue or terminate the Plan at any time, except that Section 7 cannot be changed in any way which would violate IRS regulations under Internal
Revenue Code Section 162(m) without stockholder approval.
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ADDENDUM RULES & CONDITIONS

 
Sources:

The Company's operating statements, human resources and payroll records will be used to determine eligible participants, eligible salary and applicable
business results used in all incentive calculations.

 
Compensation Changes/Transfers:
If a participant's base salary or STIP target percentage changes during the year, or if an employee transfers into or out of STIP during the year, any STIP
award will be pro-rated appropriately.

 
Windfalls and Catastrophic Losses:
A Windfall is an excessively large potential payment for results not driven by participant actions (e.g., acquisitions, market reconfigurations, significant
changes in the Company's business) or due to inequities or errors in the Plan.

 
A Catastrophic Loss is a situation where incentive payments are unexpectedly reduced or eliminated due to business situations that were not foreseeable or
preventable by participants (e.g. tornadoes, floods, other natural disasters, etc.).

 
If any situation is identified as a Windfall or Catastrophic Loss, participants will be notified if there is to be any adjustment in the calculation or
payment.

 
Assignment:

No funds, assets or other property of Kelly, and no obligation or liability of Kelly under any incentive plan, will be subject to any claim of any participant,
nor will any participant have any right or power to pledge, encumber or assign an incentive payment.

 
Unauthorized Representations:
No director, officer, employee or other person has the authority to enter into any agreement, either written or oral, with any person or participant concerning
the Plan or payment of an incentive, or to make any representation or warranty with respect to any incentive award. Only the President/CEO or the Senior
Vice President of Global Human Resources will have such authority.

 
Tax-Related Liabilities:
The federal supplemental income tax withholding rate will be applied to all STIP payments for US participants and appropriate tax withholdings will be
applied in the other countries outside of US. Participants are responsible for determining the tax consequences of incentive payments and arranging for
appropriate withholding. Kelly will not be responsible for and will be held harmless and indemnified by participants from liability for payments, interest,
penalties, costs, or expenses incurred as a result of not arranging for sufficient withholding or deductions from incentive payments.
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Exhibit 10.3
 

 Kelly Services, Inc.
Executive Severance Plan

April 4, 2006

(as amended November 8, 2007)

Introduction. Kelly Services, Inc. (the "Company") hereby establishes a severance plan to be known as the Executive Severance Plan (the "Plan").
The Plan shall provide severance benefits to certain employees of the Company, as identified in Appendix A ("Executive" or "Executives"), upon certain
terminations of employment from the Company, as described in this Plan document. The purpose of the Plan is to recognize the past service of Executives
whose employment is terminated under certain specified circumstances as described herein by providing severance payments. With respect to Executives
identified in Appendix A, this Plan supersedes all prior plans, policies and practices of the Company, including provisions of any employment agreement
between the Executive and the Company with respect to severance or separation pay for the Executive. The Plan is the only severance program for such
Executives. In the event of a "Change in Control" of the Company, as defined in the Kelly Services, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan for Senior
Executives (the "CIC Plan"), Executives identified in Appendix A, who are also participants in the CIC Plan, will receive severance benefits in accordance
with the CIC Plan, which supersedes and is in lieu of this Executive Severance Plan.

Effective Date and Term. The Plan, as amended on November 8, 2007 to comply with Section 409A of the Code, commenced on April 4, 2006 (the
"Effective Date") and shall continue in effect for three full years (through April 3, 2009) (the "Initial Term"). The Initial Term of this Plan automatically shall
be extended for three additional years at the end of the Initial Term, and then again after each successive three-year period thereafter (each such three-year
period following the Initial Term a "Successive Period"). However, the Company may terminate this Plan entirely or terminate any individual Executive's
participation in the Plan at the end of the Initial Term, or at the end of any Successive Period thereafter, by giving all Executives (or select Executives, if
terminating select Executives' participation in the Plan) written notice of intent not to renew, delivered at least twelve (12) months prior to the end of such
Initial Term or Successive Period. If such notice is properly delivered by the Company, this Plan (or the participation of select Executives), along with all
corresponding rights, duties, and covenants shall automatically expire at the end of the Initial Term or Successive Period then in progress.

1.               Definitions.
 (a) "Base Salary" means, at any time, the then regular annual rate of pay which the Executive is receiving as annual salary, including any amounts

deferred under any qualified retirement plan or nonqualified deferred compensation plan, but excluding amounts: (i) received under short-term or
long-term incentive or other bonus plans, regardless of whether or not the amounts are deferred, or (ii) designated by the Company as payment
toward reimbursement of expenses.

 
 (b) "Board" or "Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of the Company.

 (c) "Cause" shall mean the occurrence of any one or more of the following:
(i)The Executive's willful and continued failure to substantially perform his duties with the Company (other than any such failure resulting from the
Executive's Disability), after a written demand for substantial performance is delivered to the Executive, by the Board or the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, that specifically identifies the manner in which the Board or the Chief Executive Officer believes that the Executive has not
substantially performed his duties, and the Executive has been given an opportunity, within thirty (30) days following Executive's receipt of such
notice, to meet in person with the Board (or its designee) to explain or defend the alleged act or acts, or failure or failures to act relied upon by the
Company and, to the extent such cure is possible, the Executive has not cured such act or acts or failure or failures to act within the thirty (30) day
period;

 
(ii)The Executive's gross negligence or willful engagement in conduct that is demonstrably and materially injurious to the Company, monetarily or
otherwise;
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(iii)The Executive's conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere, to any felony or to any other crime which involves the personal enrichment of
the Executive at the expense of the Company; and

 
(iv)The Executive's material breach of the Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

 
Notwithstanding the above, for purposes of this provision, no act or acts or failures to act shall be considered "willful" or "intentional" unless done or
omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Executive's act or omission was in the best interests of the
Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or based upon the instructions of
the Chief Executive Officer or a senior officer of the Company or based upon the advice of counsel for the Company shall be conclusively presumed
to be done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in the best interests of the Company

 (d) "Compensation Committee" means the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.

 (e) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
 
 (f) "Disability" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Company's governing long-term disability plan, or if no such plan exists, at the sole

discretion of the Board.
 
 (g) "Earned Compensation" means the sum of (i) any Base Salary earned, but unpaid, for services rendered to the Company on or prior to the date of

termination, (ii) any annual Incentive Compensation payable for services rendered in the calendar year preceding the calendar year in which the date
of termination occurs that has not been paid on or prior to the date of termination (other than Base Salary and Incentive Compensation that has been
deferred, if any, pursuant to Executive's election), (iii) any accrued but unused vacation days and (iv) any business expenses incurred on or prior to
the date of the Executive's termination that are eligible for reimbursement in accordance with the Company's expense reimbursement policies as then
in effect.

 
 (h) "Good Reason" means, without the Executive's express written consent, the occurrence after the Effective Date of any one (1) or more of the

following that continues for a period of more than 30 days after the Executive has provided the Company written notice of such occurrence:
 

(i) A material reduction of the Executive's authorities, duties, responsibilities, title or reporting requirements as an executive and/or officer of the
Company other than an insubstantial and inadvertent reduction that is remedied by the Company;

 
(ii) The Company's requiring the Executive to be based at a location greater than fifty (50) miles from the location of the Executive's principal job
location or office as of the Effective Date; except for required travel on the Company's business to an extent substantially consistent with the
Executive's business travel obligations prior to the Effective Date;

 
(iii) A material reduction by the Company of the Executive's Base Salary in effect on the Effective Date hereof, as the same shall be increased from
time to time;

 
(iv) The failure of the Company to continue in effect, or the failure to continue the Executive's participation on substantially the same basis in, any of
the Company's short- and long-term incentive compensation plans, or employee benefit or retirement plans, policies, practices, or other
compensation arrangements (except for the expiration or termination of this Plan in accordance with its terms) in which the Executive participates
prior to the Effective Date that results in a material reduction in the Executive's Target Annual Total Compensation unless such failure to continue
the plan, policy, practice, or arrangement pertains to all plan participants generally; provided, however, that a decrease in the Executive's Target
Annual Total Compensation in excess of ten percent (10%) shall constitute Good Reason.
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Any claim by the Executive that Good Reason exists shall be presumed to be correct unless the Company establishes by clear and
convincing evidence that Good Reason does not exist.

 
 (i) "Qualifying Termination" means (i) the termination by the Company of the Executive's employment (as defined in Section 5(g)) with the Company

and its affiliates without Cause, or (ii) with respect to the Executives identified on Appendix A as Tier One (1) Executives only, the termination by
the Executive of the Executive's employment (as defined in Section 5(g)) with the Company and its affiliates for Good Reason.

 
 (j) "Severance Period" means the annual period(s) of time over which payments are made pursuant to Section 3(b) hereof, as identified in Appendix A

with respect to each eligible Executive.
 
 (k) "Incentive Compensation" means with respect to any calendar year, the annual incentive bonus the Executive would have been entitled to receive

under any applicable plan or program of the Company (or of a subsidiary) providing for incentive compensation had he remained employed by the
Company and assuming that performance at the level designated as "target" for such calendar year had been met.

 
 (l) "Vested Benefits" means amounts which are vested or which the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under the terms of or in accordance with

any plan, policy, practice or program of, or any contract or agreement with, the Company or any of its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Benefit Plans"), at or subsequent to the date of his termination without regard to the performance by Executive of further services or the resolution
of a contingency.

 
2.               Eligibility. Only Executives identified in Appendix A are eligible for severance benefits in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
 
3.               Benefits upon Certain Terminations.

(a) Termination for Any Reason. In the event of the termination of Executive's employment for any reason, Executive shall be entitled to any
Earned Compensation owed to Executive but not yet paid as of the date of termination. Such amount(s) shall be paid in accordance with the
Company's applicable policy, practice or procedure following the Executive's date of termination. Executive shall also be entitled to payment of
Vested Benefits, if any. Any such payment shall be made in accordance with the terms of the applicable Benefit Plan(s) and the requirements of
applicable law. Nothing in this Plan shall be construed to amend or modify the terms of any such Benefit Plan(s). No additional termination
benefits shall be paid or payable to or in respect of Executive pursuant to this Plan unless the Executive qualifies for payment under Section 3(b)
hereof.

(b) Qualifying Termination. If following the Effective Date, the Executive experiences a Qualifying Termination, the Executive shall be entitled to
the following payments and other benefits (in addition to the payments under Section 3(a) hereof):

 
(i)The Executive's then-current "target" bonus opportunity established under the Company's annual bonus plan for the plan year in which
the Executive's termination occurs; adjusted on a pro rata basis based on the number of days the Executive was actually employed during
such plan year. This amount shall be paid subject to and in accordance with Section 5(g).

 
(ii) Salary continuation payments in an amount equal to such multiple as may be identified with respect to a particular Executive in
Appendix A times the Executive's Base Salary (or such other amount as set forth in Appendix A). This amount shall be paid subject to and
in accordance with Section 5(g).

 
(iii) The Company will provide comparable medical (including prescription drug), dental, vision and hospitalization benefits to the
Executive and his or her eligible dependents for the Severance Period, provided the Executive continues to pay the applicable employee rate
for such coverage. Any such coverage provided by the Company shall be provided under the benefit plan(s) applicable to employees of the
Company in general and shall be subject to the terms of such plan(s), as such terms may be amended by the Company in its sole discretion
from time to time. In the case of any coverage or plan to which the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended
(COBRA) would apply, any continuation of such coverage under COBRA shall begin after the Severance Period. Any period of
continuation coverage required under COBRA shall otherwise be provided in accordance with COBRA and the regulations issued
thereunder; provided, however, in the event the Company is unable to provide such coverage on account of any limitations under the terms
of any applicable contract with an insurance carrier or third party administrator, or the terms of any applicable plan, the Company shall pay
the Executive an amount equal to the portion of the premium or cost for such coverage that is paid by the Company for employees
generally. These amounts shall be paid or provided subject to and in accordance with Section 5(g).

 
(iv) Reimbursement of professional outplacement services, actually incurred during the initial twelve (12) month period following
termination, not to exceed $10,000 in cost, provided the Executive requests reimbursement within 90 days of the date such expense is
incurred. The Company shall reimburse such expenses within 90 days of the date such expense reimbursement is received from the
Executive.
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4.               Conditions and Limitations on Severance Payments. The following conditions and limitations shall apply to all severance benefits payable under
this Plan and all severance payments under the Plan shall be specifically conditioned upon the Executive's satisfaction of the conditions noted:
 
 (a) Full Discharge of Company Obligations. The amounts payable to Executive under this Plan following termination of his employment (including

amounts payable with respect to Vested Benefits) shall be in full and complete satisfaction of Executive's rights under this Plan and any other claims
he may have in respect of his employment by the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than claims for common law torts or under other contracts
between Executive and the Company or its subsidiaries. Such amounts shall constitute liquidated damages with respect to any and all such rights and
claims and, upon Executive's receipt of such amounts, the Company shall be released and discharged from any and all liability to Executive in
connection with this Plan or otherwise in connection with Executive's employment with the Company and its subsidiaries and, as a condition to
payment of any such amounts that are in excess of the Earned Compensation and the Vested Benefits following the date of termination, Executive
and the Company shall execute (and not revoke) a valid mutual release to be prepared by the Company pursuant to which the Executive and the
Company (and its subsidiaries and affiliates) shall each mutually agree to release the other, to the maximum extent permitted under applicable law,
from any and all claims either party may have against the other that relate to or arise out of the employment or termination of employment of the
Executive, except any claims or rights which cannot be waived by law.

 (b) No Mitigation; No Offset. In the event of any termination of employment that entitles the Executive to a payment or payments under this Plan,
Executive shall be under no obligation to seek other employment and there shall be no offset against amounts due Executive under this Plan on
account of any remuneration attributable to any subsequent employment that he may obtain, except as may be applied pursuant to COBRA or other
applicable law respecting the continuation of benefits.

 (c) Company Property. Promptly following termination of Executive's employment, Executive shall return to the Company all property of the Company,
and all copies thereof in Executive's possession or under his control, except that Executive may retain his personal notes, diaries, Rolodexes,
calendars and correspondence.

 (d) Confidentiality. The Company has advised the Executive and the Executive acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company to maintain as secret
and confidential all Protected Information (as defined below), and that Protected Information has been and will be developed at substantial cost and
effort to the Company. All Protected Information shall remain confidential permanently, and the Executive shall not, at any time, directly or
indirectly, divulge, furnish, or make accessible to any person, firm, corporation, association, or other entity (otherwise than as may be required in the
regular course of the Executive's employment with the Company), nor use in any manner, either during the term of employment or after termination,
at any time, for any reason, any Protected Information, or cause any such information of the Company to enter the public domain.
For purposes of this Plan, "Protected Information" means trade secrets, confidential and proprietary business information of the Company, and any
other information of the Company, including, but not limited to, customer lists (including potential customers), sources of supply, processes, plans,
materials, pricing information, internal memoranda, marketing plans, internal policies, and products and services which may be developed from time
to time by the Company and its agents or employees, including the Executive; provided, however, that information that is in the public domain (other
than as a result of a breach of this Plan), approved for release by the Company or lawfully obtained from third parties who are not bound by a
confidentiality agreement with the Company, is not Protected Information.
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(e) Noncompetition. Executives agrees that for a period of twelve (12) months after the Executive's termination of employment, the Executive shall not
directly or indirectly, individually, or as a director, employee, officer, principal, agent, or in any other capacity or relationship, engage in any business
or employment, or aid or endeavor to assist any business or legal entity that is in direct competition with the business of the Company as then being
carried out (provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Plan, the Executive may own up to two percent (2%)
of the outstanding shares of the capital stock of a company whose securities are registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).
Executive acknowledges that Company has operations in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and at least twenty-nine other countries, that the
Company's strategic plan is to continue to expand its operations and presence both domestically and internationally and that as a member of
Company's senior management, Executive's services are integral to these operations and expansion plans. In the event of a violation of this Section
4(e), Company retains all rights to seek monetary damages against the Executive or to seek other equitable remedies against the Executive.

(f) Non-Solicitation of Employees. During Executive's employment with the Company, and any subsidiary thereof, and during the twelve (12) month
period following any termination of Executive's employment for any reason, Executive shall not, except in the course of carrying out his duties
hereunder, directly or indirectly induce any employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to terminate employment with such entity, and shall
not directly or indirectly, either individually or as owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, knowingly employ or offer employment to any
person who is or was employed by the Company or a subsidiary thereof unless such person shall have ceased to be employed by such entity for a
period of at least six (6) months.

(g) Non-Disparagement. Executive shall not disparage, slander or injure the business reputation or goodwill of the Company in any material way,
including, by way of illustration, through any contact with vendors, suppliers, employees or agents of the Company which could harm the business
reputation or goodwill of the Company.

(h) Confidentiality of Payments under the Plan. Executive shall keep all aspects of this Plan not otherwise publicly available strictly confidential,
including but not limited to the fact and amount and/or duration of any payment under this Plan, except that Executive may make necessary
disclosures to his or her attorney(s) or tax advisor(s) that are retained to advise Executive in connection with amounts paid under this Plan.

(i) Remedies. To the extent permitted by law, if the Company determines that the Executive has engaged in any of the restricted activities referenced in
this Section 4, the Company will immediately cease any unpaid severance payments and will have the right to seek repayment of any such payments
that have already been made. In addition, the covenants and obligations of Executive with respect to confidentiality, Company property, non-
competition, non-solicitation and non-disparagement relate to special, unique and extraordinary matters and that a violation of any of the terms of
such covenants and obligations may cause the Company irreparable injury for which adequate remedies are not available at law. Therefore, the
Company shall be entitled to an injunction, restraining order or such other equitable relief restraining Executive from committing any violation of the
covenants and obligations under the Plan. These injunctive remedies shall be cumulative and, in addition to, any other rights and remedies the
Company has at law or in equity.

 
5.              Miscellaneous.

(a) Survival. Sections 4(d), (e), (f), (g) and (h) (relating to confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation and non-disparagement) and 5(q) (relating
to governing law) shall survive the termination of this Plan.

(b) Binding Effect. This Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of, the Company and any person or entity that succeeds to the interest of
the Company (regardless of whether such succession does or does not occur by operation of law) by reason of a merger, consolidation or
reorganization involving the Company or a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, provided that the assignee or transferee is the
successor to all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and such assignee or transferee assumes the liabilities, obligations and duties of the
Company, as contained in this Plan, either contractually or as a matter of law. In the event of a sale of assets as described in the preceding sentence,
the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause such assignee or transferee to expressly assume the liabilities, obligations and duties of the
Company hereunder. This Plan shall also inure to the benefit of Executive's heirs, executors, administrators and legal representatives and
beneficiaries.

(c) Inalienability; Assignment. Except as provided under Section 5(b), in no event may any Executive sell, transfer, anticipate, assign or otherwise
dispose of any right or interest under the Plan. At no time will any such right or interest be subject to the claims of creditors nor liable to attachment,
execution or other legal process.
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(d) Entire Plan. This Plan contains the entire understanding of the Company and the Executive with respect to the subject matter hereof. In addition, the
payments provided for under this Plan in the event of the Executive's termination of employment shall be in lieu of any severance benefits payable
under any severance plan, program, or policy of the Company to which the Executive might otherwise be entitled. At the time of a Change in
Control, Executives identified in Appendix A, that are also participants in the CIC Plan, will receive severance benefits in accordance with the CIC
Plan which supersedes and are in lieu of this Executive Severance Plan.

(e) This Plan document constitutes the entire understanding of the Company and the Executive with respect to the matters referred to herein. With
respect to Executives identified in Appendix A, this Plan supersedes all prior plans, policies and practices of the Company, including provisions of
any employment agreement between the Executive and the Company with respect to severance or separation pay for the Executives, other than the
CIC Plan. If the latter plan is triggered by a Change in Control then it supersedes and pays in lieu of the Plan.

 
(f) Severability; Reformation. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Plan shall become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect,

the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not be affected thereby. In the event any of Sections 4(d),
(e), (f), (g) or (h) is not enforceable in accordance with its terms, such Section(s) shall be interpreted or reformed to make such Section enforceable
in a manner which provides the Company the maximum rights permitted at law.

 
(g) Compliance with Section 409A of the Code. It is intended that the payments and benefits provided under the Plan shall either be exempt from the

application of, or comply with, the requirements of Section 409A of the Code. The Plan shall be construed, administered, and governed in a manner
that effects such intent. To the extent applicable, the following provisions will apply to the benefits paid or provided under the Plan:
 
(i) Any benefit payable or to be provided as a result of an Executive's termination of employment shall be paid or provided, to the extent necessary to
comply with Section 409A of the Code, if and only if such termination of employment constitutes a "separation from service".

 
(ii) Any amount payable to an Executive under Section 3(b)(ii) that constitutes "separation pay" shall be paid to the Executive in equal installments
over the Severance Period and in accordance with the Company's payroll practices. All amounts payable to the Executive under Section 3(b)(i) and
any amount payable to the Executive under Section 3(b)(ii) that does not constitute "separation pay" shall be paid to the Executive as a separate
payment during the "short-term deferral period".

 
(iii) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan to the contrary, if the Executive is a "specified employee," as determined under the Company's
policy for determining specified employees on the date of his termination of employment, then to the extent required in order to comply with Section
409A of the Code, all payments, benefits or reimbursements paid or provided under the Plan that constitute a "deferral of compensation" that are
provided as a result of a "separation from service" and that would otherwise be paid or provided during the first six months following the date of
such "separation from service" shall be accumulated through and paid or provided (together with interest at the applicable federal rate under Section
7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code in effect on the date of termination of employment) within 30 days after the first business day following the six month
anniversary of such "separation from service" (or, if the Executive dies during such six-month period, within 30 days after the Executive's death).

 
(iv) The taxable benefits described in Section 3(b)(iii) (other than any disability benefit or death benefit) are intended to be exempt from Section
409A of the Code as provided in Treasury regulation section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v). In the event these benefits are not so exempt from Section 409A of
the Code, then the benefits provided in Section 3(b)(iii) shall be subject to the following additional rules: (A) the Executive must request
reimbursement of eligible expenses (to the extent required) within 120 days of the end of the tax year in which the expense is incurred, (B) the
Company will reimburse the Executive within 90 days of the date the expense reimbursement request is received in writing from the Executive (or
such later date required in Section 5(g)(iii), (C) the benefits provide in Section 3(b)(iii) may not be exchanged for cash or another benefit, and (D)
benefits payable or provided under Section 3(b)(iii) in one year may not affect the amount of benefits payable or provided in another year.
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(iv) For purposes of this Section 5(g), the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 

"deferral of compensation" means an amount that constitutes deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, which is
not exempt from Section 409A of the Code as "separation pay" or is not paid within the "short-term deferral period".

 
"separation from service" has the meaning provided in Treasury regulation section 1.409A-1(h).

 
"separation pay" has the meaning provided in Treasury regulation section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii).

 
"short-term deferral period" means the period beginning on the date of the Executive's "separation from service" and ending no later than the
15th day of the third month following the later of (A) the end of the Executive's taxable year in which the "separation from service" occurs or
(B) the end of the Company's taxable year in which the "separation from service" occurs.

Although the Company shall use its best efforts to avoid the imposition of taxation, interest and penalties under Section 409A of the Code, the tax
treatment of the benefits provided under the Plan is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company nor its directors, officers, employees or
advisers shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties or other monetary amounts owed by the Executive or other taxpayer as a result of the
Plan.

(h) Waiver. Waiver by any party hereto of any breach or default by the other party of any of the terms of this Plan shall not operate as a waiver of any
other breach or default, whether similar to or different from the breach or default waived. No waiver of any provision of this Plan shall be implied
from any course of dealing between the parties hereto or from any failure by either party hereto to assert its or his rights hereunder on any occasion
or series of occasions.

(i) Administration. The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee or its designee (the "Plan Administrator"). The Plan Administrator has the
power, in its sole discretion, to approve and interpret the Plan, to decide all matters under the Plan, including eligibility to participate and benefit
entitlement, and to adopt rules and procedures it deems appropriate for the administration and implementation of the Plan. The Plan Administrator's
determinations and interpretations shall be conclusive and binding on all individuals. In administering the Plan, the Plan Administrator may, at its
option, employ compensation consultants, accountants, counsel and other persons to assist or render advice and other services, all at the expense of
the Company.

 
The Plan Administrator may delegate all or part of its authority to such other person or persons as the Plan Administrator designates from time to
time.

The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the members of the Compensation Committee and any employee to whom any of the duties
of the Compensation Committee may be delegated, from and against any and all claims, losses, costs, damages, expenses or liabilities arising from
any action or failure to act with respect to this Plan, except in the case of willful misconduct by such member or such employee. This
indemnification shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other indemnification of any such member or employee.
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(j) Claims. Any person that believes he or she is entitled to any payment under the Plan may submit a claim in writing to the Company. Any such claim
should be sent to the Company's General Counsel If the claim is denied (either in full or in part), the claimant will be provided with written notice
explaining the specific reasons for the denial and referring to the provisions of the Plan on which the denial is based. The notice will describe any
additional information needed to support the claim. The denial notice will be provided within 90 days after the claim is received. If special
circumstances require an extension of time (up to 90 days), written notice of the extension will be given within the initial 90-day period.

(k) Appeal Procedure. If a claimant's claim is denied, the claim may apply in writing to the Compensation Committee for a review of the decision
denying the claim. The claimant then has the right to review pertinent documents and to submit issues and comments in writing. The Compensation
Committee will provide written notice of its decision on review within 60 days after it receives a review request. If additional time (up to 60 days) is
needed to review the request, the claimant will be given written notice of the reason for the delay.

(l) Source of Payments. All payments under the Plan will be paid in cash (except with respect to the payment of Vested Benefits which will be paid in
accordance with the terms of the applicable Benefit Plans) from the general funds of the Company; no separate fund will be established under the
Plan and no assets will be segregated or set aside for the sole purpose of making payments under the Plan. Any right of any person to receive any
payment under the Plan will be no greater than the right of any other unsecured creditor of the Company.

(m) No Expansion of Employment Rights. Neither the establishment or maintenance of the Plan, the payment of any amount under the Plan, nor any
action of the Company shall confer upon any individual any right to be continued as an employee nor any right or interest in the Plan other than as
provided in the Plan.

(n) Amendment and Termination. No provision of this Plan may be modified, waived, or discharged unless such modification, waiver, or discharge is
agreed to by the Compensation Committee and the Executive (or his legal representative) affected by such modification, waiver or discharge in
writing, signed by such Executive and a member of the Compensation Committee or by their respective legal representatives or successors; provided
that pursuant to Section 5(g) the Compensation Committee may modify the Plan at any time without the Executives' consent to comply with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code as determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole and absolute discretion. Nothing in this Section
5(n) shall limit the Company's right to terminate the Plan or terminate any individual Executive's participation in the Plan as of the end of the Initial
Term or as of the end of any Successive Period thereafter as provided under the Plan.

(o) Headings. Headings to Sections in this Plan are for convenience only and are not intended to be part of or to affect the meaning or interpretation
hereof.

(p) Withholding. Any payments provided for herein shall be reduced by any amounts required to be withheld by the Company from time to time under
applicable federal, state or local income or employment tax laws or similar statutes or other provisions of law then in effect.

(q) Governing Law. This Plan shall be governed by the laws of the State of Michigan, without reference to principles of conflicts or choice of law under
which the law of any other jurisdiction would apply.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has executed this Plan on this 8th day of November, 2007.

 
KELLY SERVICES, INC.

 

/s/ B. Joseph White
By: B. Joseph White, 
Chair of the Compensation Committee of the 
Board of Directors
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ATTEST:

 

/s/ Daniel T. Lis
By: Daniel T. Lis, 
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and 
Secretary of the Board of Directors
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KELLY SERVICES, INC.
MANAGEMENT RETIREMENT PLAN

ARTICLE 1

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PLAN

Kelly Services, Inc. hereby establishes effective as of January 1, 2008, the Kelly Services, Inc. 2008 Management Retirement Plan on the terms and
conditions hereinafter set forth. Such Plan provides certain eligible employees with the opportunity to defer portions of their base salary, commission and
bonus and receive certain other retirement benefits all in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

The Plan is intended to be a non-qualified deferred compensation arrangement for a select group of management or highly compensated employees.

ARTICLE 2

DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the following meanings described in this Article unless the context clearly indicates another meaning. All references
in the Plan to specific Articles or Sections shall refer to Articles or Sections of the Plan unless otherwise stated.

2.1           Account means the record established for each Participant in accordance with Section 5.1.

2.2           Affiliated Group means all entities with whom Kelly Services, Inc. would be considered a single employer under Sections 414(b) and
414(c) of the Code, provided that in applying Section 1563(a)(1), (2), and (3) for purposes of determining a controlled group of corporations under Section
414(b) of the Code, the language "at least 50 percent" is used instead of "at least 80 percent" each place it appears in Section 1563(a)(1), (2), and (3), and in
applying Treasury Regulation Section 1.414(c)-2 for purposes of determining trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) that are under common
control for purposes of Section 414(c), "at least 50 percent" is used instead of "at least 80 percent" each place it appears in that regulation. Such term shall be
interpreted in a manner consistent with the definition of "service recipient" contained in Section 409A of the Code.

2.3           Change in Control means the occurrence of a "change in the ownership," a "change in the effective control" or a "change in the ownership
of a substantial portion of the assets" of Kelly Services, Inc. within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.

2.4           Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

2.5           Commencement Date means the date a Participant's Sub-Account becomes payable in accordance with Section 6.1.
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2.6           Company means Kelly Services, Inc. and any member of the Affiliated Group that, with the written authorization of the board of directors
of Kelly Services, Inc. or its delegate, adopts the Plan for the benefit of its employees pursuant to a resolution of its board of directors or its delegate. The
Account of a Participant employed by a participating member of the Affiliated Group shall be paid in accordance with the Plan solely by such member to the
extent attributable to Compensation that would have been paid by such participating member in the absence of deferral pursuant to the Plan, unless the board
of directors of Kelly Services, Inc. otherwise determines that Kelly Services, Inc. shall be the obligor.

2.7           Compensation means a Participant's taxable base, commission and eligible bonus compensation (as specified by the Plan Administrator)
paid by the Company as reported on Form W-2 for the Plan Year.    

For purposes hereof, "commission" compensation means sales commissions payable by the Affiliated Group to a Participant, under a sales commission plan
designated from time to time by the Plan Administrator, if: (i) a substantial portion of the services compensated by the payment consist of the direct sale of a
product or service, (ii) the payment is either a portion of the purchase price of the product or service or an amount substantially all of which is calculated by
reference to the volume of sales of the Participant and (iii) the payment is contingent on the closing of the sales transaction. Such term shall be interpreted in a
manner consistent with the definition of "sales commission compensation" contained in Section 409A of the Code.

2.8           Deferred Compensation means a portion of the Participant's Compensation allocated to the Participant's Account in accordance with
Section 4.1 of the Plan.

2.9           Election Agreement means the agreement entered into by an Employee in the manner determined by the Company (including, but not
limited to, written agreement, use of a voice response system or other electronic medium, or any combination thereof) pursuant to which the Employee
becomes a Participant in the Plan and selects Deferred Compensation and the period over which such amounts and investment return thereon will be
distributed.

2.10         Employee means, with respect to each Company adopting the Plan, any person who is (i) classified as a salaried staff employee by the
Company (ii) a highly compensated employee (as defined in Section 414(q) of the Code) or has an annual compensation rate greater than the amount as
specified in Section 414(q)(1)(B)(i) of the Code in the first year of employment with the Company, and (iii) paid on the bi-weekly, or bi-monthly payroll, or
such other person as designated by the Company. The term “Employee” shall not include any person who is (i) covered by a collective bargaining agreement,
(ii) a non-resident alien who does not receive United States source income, (iii) classified as an hourly employee by the Company or (iv) paid on a weekly
basis.     

2.11         Participant means any Employee who (i) at any time elected to defer the receipt of Compensation in accordance with the Plan or received a
credit to his or her Account pursuant to Sections 4.3, 4.4 or 4.5 hereof, and (ii) in conjunction with his or her beneficiary, has not received a complete
payment of the vested amount credited to his or her Account.

2.12         Plan means the Kelly Services, Inc. 2008 Management Retirement Plan.
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2.13         Plan Administrator means the Company or Benefit Plans Committee designated pursuant to Article 7.

2.14         Plan Year means the period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31 of each year.

2.15         Prior Plan means the Kelly Services, Inc. Management Retirement Plan, as amended through October 3, 2004.

2.16         Retirement means termination of employment with the Company after attainment of age fifty-five (55) and completion of ten (10) years of
service.

2.17         Separation from Service means the Participant's termination of employment that constitutes a "separation from service" within the meaning
of Section 409A of the Code.

2.18         Specified Age means the date the Participant attains either age 45, 50, 55, 60 or 65 as designated by the Participant on an Election
Agreement or a Subsequent Payment Election.

2.19         Sub-Account means a separate sub-account maintained within a Participant's Account with respect to amounts that have been deferred into
the Plan by a Participant or that have been contributed to the Plan by the Company that are subject to the same terms as to time and manner of payment.

2.20         Subsequent Payment Election has the meaning given to such term in Section 6.3 hereof.

2.21         Valuation Date means the last business day of each calendar month or such other dates as determined by the Plan Administrator.

ARTICLE 3

PARTICIPATION AND YEARS OF SERVICE

3.1           Eligibility. An Employee shall be eligible to participate in the Plan if he or she is an Employee designated as eligible by the Company.
Individuals not specifically designated by the Company are not eligible to participate in the Plan.

3.2           Participation. An Employee shall become a Participant as of the date he or she satisfies the eligibility requirements of Section 3.1 and with
respect to Deferred Compensation, completes all administrative forms required by the Plan Administrator in the manner determined by the Company
(including, but not limited to, written forms provided by the Plan Administrator, use of a voice response system or other electronic medium, or any
combination thereof). An individual's entitlement to defer Compensation shall cease with respect to the calendar year (or with respect to any bonus
Compensation subject to a deferral election, the end of a performance period) following the calendar year (or such performance period) in which he or she
ceases to be an eligible Employee, although such individual shall continue to be subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan for as long as he or she
remains a Participant.
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3.3           Years of Service. A person shall be credited with years of service equal to his or her period of continuous service. A person shall be
credited with continuous service for the aggregate periods of time between his or her employment commencement date or any reemployment commencement
date and the termination date that next follows such employment commencement date or reemployment commencement date; provided, however, that an
employee who has a reemployment commencement date within the 12-consecutive-month period following the earlier of the first date of his or her absence or
termination date shall be credited with continuous service for the period between such termination date and reemployment commencement date. Continuous
service completed by the employee prior to a termination date shall not be included in determining the employee's years of service unless (i) the employee has
a reemployment commencement date within the 12-consecutive-month period following the termination date, (ii) the employee had a non-forfeitable right to
any portion of his or her Company credits or Company matching credits as of the termination date, or (iii) the period of time between the termination date and
his or her reemployment commencement date is less than five years. For purposes of this Section 3.3, the following terms have the following meanings:

(a)     The "employment commencement date" of an employee means the date he or she first completes an hour of service.

(b)     An "hour of service" means an hour for which a person is paid, or entitled to payment, for the performance of duties for the Company.

(c)     The "reemployment commencement date" of an employee means the first date following a termination date on which he or she again
completes an hour of service.

(d)     The "termination date" of an employee means the date on which he or she retires, dies, or his or her employment with the Company is
otherwise terminated.

ARTICLE 4

BENEFITS

4.1           Deferred Compensation. A Participant may elect to have his or her gross Compensation deferred in any whole percentage of at least 2%,
not to exceed 25%, of the Participant's base salary for each payroll period during the Plan Year or 50% of the Participant's commissions earned during the
Plan Year and eligible bonus for a performance period beginning in the Plan Year (or such other percentage as specified by the Plan Administrator) and to
have that amount credited to his or her Account as Deferred Compensation. For purposes hereof, commissions shall be treated as earned in the year in which
the sale that gives rise to the commission occurs. Amounts deferred under the Plan are subject to applicable tax withholding (such as FICA, local taxes, etc.).
A Participant shall at all times have a fully vested interest in his or her Deferred Compensation and the earnings allocable thereto. Deferred Compensation
shall be credited to a Participant's Account as of the dates specified by the Plan Administrator.
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4.2           Election Procedures.

(a)     An Employee who has not previously participated in the Plan must complete and submit an irrevocable Election Agreement to the
Plan Administrator in the manner determined by the Company (including, but not limited to, written agreement, use of a voice response system or other
electronic medium, or any combination thereof) no later than thirty (30) days following the date on which such Employee first becomes eligible to participate
in the Plan under Section 3.2 in order to become a Participant in the Plan Year in which the Employee first becomes eligible. Such Election Agreement shall
set forth the amount of Compensation, if any, the Participant wishes to defer into the Plan under Section 4.1 and the time and manner of payment of each Sub-
Account. An Election Agreement made under this Section 4.2(a) will remain in effect until a new Election Agreement made by the Participant under Section
4.2(c) or (d) has become irrevocable or until the deferral election made pursuant to the Election Agreement hereunder is otherwise cancelled in accordance
with Section 4.2(f). All Election Agreements made by a newly eligible Employee after such thirty (30)-day period and all Election Agreements made by an
Employee who previously participated in the Plan must be made in accordance with Section 4.2(c) (with respect to deferral of Compensation) and (d) (with
respect to specifying the time and manner of payment). An Election Agreement must provide a single percentage of deferral applicable to base compensation
and/or a single percentage of deferral applicable to both commission and bonus Compensation. Once the Election Agreement becomes irrevocable under this
Section 4.2(a), a Participant may modify the time and manner of payment of his or her Sub-Accounts subject to such Election Agreement only in accordance
with Section 6.3.

For this purpose, an Employee is treated as not having previously participated in the Plan if (i) as of the date he or she is designated as eligible to participate,
he or she is not eligible to participate in an "aggregated plan", and (ii) if he or she previously participated in the Plan or an "aggregated plan", he or she either
(A) received payments of all amounts previously deferred under the Plan and any "aggregated plan" as of the date he or she is designated as eligible to
participate under Section 3.2, and on or before the last payment was not eligible to continue participation in the Plan or plans for periods after the last
payment, or (B) regardless of whether he or she has received full payment of all amounts deferred under the Plan or an "aggregated plan", he or she ceased to
be eligible to participate in the Plan or an "aggregated plan" (other than the accrual of earnings) for a period of at least 24 consecutive months prior to the date
he or she is again designated as eligible to participate in the Plan under Section 3.2. For purposes of this Section 4.2(a), an "aggregated plan" is a plan that is
required to be aggregated with the Plan under Section 409A of the Code, and the portion of the Plan consisting of deferrals of Compensation shall not be
aggregated with the portion of the Plan relating to credits of Company contributions.

(b)     A newly eligible Participant's Election Agreement with respect to the deferral of Compensation that is made with the Plan
Administrator in accordance with Section 4.2(a) shall be effective only (i) as to salary Compensation payable with respect to services rendered by the
Participant after the date the Election Agreement becomes irrevocable, (ii) as to commission Compensation that is earned after the date the Election
Agreement becomes irrevocable and (iii) as to bonus Compensation earned during a performance period that commences after the Election Agreement
becomes irrevocable. An Election Agreement made under this Section 4.2(b) will remain in effect until a new Election Agreement made by the Participant
under Section 4.2(c) has become irrevocable or until the deferral election made pursuant to the Election Agreement hereunder is otherwise cancelled in
accordance with Section 4.2(f).
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(c)     A Participant who is not eligible to make an Election Agreement under Section 4.2(a) may make an Election Agreement with respect
to the deferral of Compensation at any time in accordance with this Section 4.2(c) by completing and submitting an Election Agreement to the Plan
Administrator in the manner determined by the Company (including, but not limited to, written agreement, use of a voice response system or other electronic
medium, or any combination thereof). The Election Agreement with respect to the deferral of Compensation shall become irrevocable on December 31 of the
Plan Year in which it is submitted to the Plan Administrator and shall only apply to salary and commission Compensation earned in the immediately
following Plan Year and any bonus Compensation earned during a performance period that commences on or after the first day of the following Plan Year. An
Election Agreement made under this Section 4.2(c) by a Participant will remain in effect until a new Election Agreement made by the Participant under this
Section 4.2(c) has become irrevocable or until the deferral election made pursuant to the Election Agreement hereunder is otherwise cancelled in accordance
with Section 4.2(f). Once the Election Agreement becomes irrevocable under this Section 4.2(c), a Participant may modify the time and manner of payment of
the Sub-Accounts subject to such Election Agreement only in accordance with Section 6.3.

(d)     A Participant who is not eligible to make an Election Agreement under Section 4.2(a) may make an Election Agreement setting forth
the time and manner of payment of one or more Sub-Accounts subject to such Election Agreement in accordance with this Section 4.2(d) by completing and
submitting an Election Agreement with the Plan Administrator in the manner determined by the Company (including, but not limited to, written agreement,
use of a voice response system or other electronic medium, or any combination thereof). The Election Agreement shall become irrevocable on December 31
of the Plan Year in which it is made with the Plan Administrator and shall apply to Deferred Compensation and Company contributions credited to a
Participant's Sub-Accounts after the date in which the election becomes irrevocable. An Election Agreement made under this Section 4.2(d) will remain in
effect until a new Election Agreement made by the Participant under this Section 4.2(d) has become irrevocable. Once the Election Agreement becomes
irrevocable (or is deemed to become irrevocable) under this Section 4.2(d), a Participant may modify the time and manner of payment of his or her Sub-
Accounts subject to such Election Agreement only in accordance with Section 6.3.

(e)     In the event a Participant fails to properly designate the time and manner of payment of his or her Sub-Accounts under Section 4.2(a)
or this Section 4.2(e), the Participant shall be deemed to have irrevocably elected to receive his or her Sub-Accounts upon his or her Separation from Service
(subject to Section 6.5) in a lump sum.

(f)     Once an Election Agreement becomes irrevocable with respect to the deferral of Compensation, the Election Agreement may not be
cancelled for the Plan Year (or the performance period for any bonus Compensation). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole
discretion, cancel a Participant's Election Agreement with respect to the deferral of Compensation for a Plan Year (or in the case of bonus Compensation, for
a performance period) as the result of a Participant's disability or other hardship to the extent such cancellation does not result in an acceleration of a
Participant's Account in violation of Section 409A of the Code.
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4.3           Company Credits. Each year, the Company will decide on an amount, if any, to be credited to a Participant's Account as a Company credit.
A Participant shall have a fully vested interest in his or her Company credits and the earnings allocable thereto after completing three years of service with the
Company or upon his or her death prior to termination of employment with the Company. Company credits for a Plan Year shall be credited to a Participant's
Account in the first quarter of the following Plan Year as of the date specified by the Plan Administrator. To be eligible for a Company credit for a Plan Year,
a Participant must be employed on the last scheduled workday of the Plan Year; provided however, that a Participant will be eligible for a Company credit for
a Plan Year if the Participant's employment terminated during the Plan Year on account of death or Retirement.

4.4           Company Matching Credits. The Company will credit a Company matching credit to a Participant's Account equal to 50% of the first 8%
of a Participant's base salary that is deferred for a payroll period and shall credit a Company matching credit to a Participant's Account equal to 50% of the
first 8% of a Participant's commissions and eligible bonus that are deferred. A Participant shall have a fully vested interest in his or her Company matching
credit and the earnings allocable thereto after completing three years of service with the Company or upon his or her death prior to termination of employment
with the Company. Company matching credits shall be credited to a Participant's Account at least monthly, as of the date specified by the Plan Administrator.

4.5           Company Discretionary Credits. The Company may credit a Company discretionary credit to a Participant's Account as of the date or dates
specified by the Company in an amount within the Company's complete and absolute discretion. The Company discretionary credit shall vest in accordance
with a vesting schedule established by the Company in its complete and absolute discretion.

4.6           Forfeitures. Upon termination of employment for any reason other than death, the non-vested portion of the Participant's Account shall be
forfeited. The amount of the forfeiture shall be computed and subtracted from the Participant's Account as of the day of the forfeiture. Forfeited amounts may
be used by the Company to offset future accruals to the Plan or to reduce the outstanding liability of the Company to the Plan. A reemployed Participant's
Account will be credited with any previously forfeited amounts in accordance with the rules and procedures as specified by the Plan Administrator.

ARTICLE 5

ACCOUNTS

5.1           Participant Accounts. The Plan Administrator shall establish an Account in the name of each Participant which will contain Sub-Accounts
to which amounts shall be allocated on the basis of the time and manner of payment of such amounts. A Participant's Account shall be maintained by the Plan
Administrator in accordance with the terms of this Plan until all of the Participant's Account has been distributed to a Participant or his or her beneficiary in
accordance with the terms of the Plan.
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5.2           Investment Return. Each Account (including Company credits) shall be deemed to bear an investment return on all existing amounts and
future contributions as if the Account were invested in the manner elected by the Participant from a list of investment funds determined by the Company,
from the date of crediting, and income and losses thereon, through the date of complete distribution of the Account. A Participant may change his or her
investment election as of the dates specified by the Plan Administrator in accordance with the procedures specified by the Plan Administrator. The Company
shall have no obligation to actually invest funds pursuant to a Participant's elections, and if the Company does invest funds, a Participant shall have no rights
to any invested assets other than as a general unsecured creditor of the Company.

5.3           Valuation of Accounts. The value of an Account as of any Valuation Date shall equal the value of the Participant's Account on the previous
Valuation Date, plus the amounts credited to such Account, less any payments debited to such Account, plus the investment gain or loss deemed to be earned
on such Account in accordance with Section 5.2, through the Valuation Date.

ARTICLE 6

DISTRIBUTIONS

6.1           When Distribution Begins. Pursuant to an Election Agreement or Subsequent Payment Election (as provided in Section 6.3), a Participant
may designate that a Sub-Account be paid on his or her Separation from Service or the later of his or her Separation from Service or a Specified Age. The
occurrence of such Separation from Service or the attainment of such Specified Age shall constitute the Commencement Date for such Sub-Account and such
Sub-Account shall be paid in accordance with the process described in Section 6.5.

6.2           Manner of Payment. A Participant's Sub-Accounts shall be distributed in a lump sum payment, monthly installments, or a combination of
both according to the Participant's Election Agreement applicable to such Sub-Accounts. The Participant may elect to have monthly installment payments
made over a 5, 10, 15, or 20-year payment period. If a Participant elects installment payments but no payment period, the monthly installments will be made
over a 20-year period. Installment payments shall be calculated and recalculated monthly by multiplying the balance credited to the Participant's Account
(including any increase or decrease resulting from payment of benefits and investment return) as of the most recent Valuation Date by a fraction, the
numerator of which is one and the denominator of which is the remaining number of payments to be made to the Participant.    

6.3           Valid Election Agreement Changes. Notwithstanding anything provided in Sections 6.1 or 6.2, a Participant may elect in the manner
determined by the Company (including, but not limited to, written form provided by the Plan Administrator, use of a voice response system or other
electronic medium, or any combination thereof) to change the time or manner of payment of his or her Sub-Accounts (a "Subsequent Payment Election"). The
Subsequent Payment Election shall become irrevocable upon receipt by the Plan Administrator and shall be made in accordance with the following rules:
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(a)     The Subsequent Payment Election may not take effect until at least twelve (12) months after the date on which it is accepted by the
Plan Administrator. The Subsequent Payment Election most recently accepted by the Plan Administrator and that satisfies the requirements of this Section 6.3
shall govern the payout of the Sub-Account.

(b)     A Participant may make no more than two Subsequent Payment Elections to change the manner of payment of his or her Sub-
Accounts to a manner of payment otherwise permitted under the Plan. Except in the event of the death of the Participant, the payment of such Sub-Account
will be delayed until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the first day of the month that the Sub-Account would otherwise have been paid under the Plan if such
Subsequent Payment Election had not been made (or, in the case of installment payments, which are treated as a single payment for purposes of this Section,
on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the first day of the month that the first installment payment was scheduled to be made).

(c)     A Participant may elect to change the time of payment of his or her Sub-Accounts to a time permitted under the Plan. Such
Subsequent Payment Election must be filed with the Plan Administrator at least twelve (12) months prior to the first day of the month that the Sub-Account
would otherwise have been paid under the Plan (or, in the case of installment payments, at least twelve (12) months from the first day of the month that the
first installment payment was scheduled to be made). On such Subsequent Payment Election, the Participant must delay the payment date for a period of at
least five (5) years after the first day of the month that the Sub-Account would otherwise have been paid under the Plan (or, in the case of installment
payments, at least five (5) years from the first day of the month that the first installment payment was scheduled to be made).

(d)     The Plan Administrator shall disregard any Subsequent Payment Election by a Participant to the extent such election would result in
an acceleration of the time or schedule of any payment or amount scheduled to be paid under the Plan within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.

6.4           Minimum Distribution. Subject to Section 6.5, if at the time of a Participant's Separation from Service or subsequent installment payment
date, the balance credited to the Participant's Sub-Accounts as of the most recent Valuation Date is less than $10,000, then, notwithstanding any election made
by the Participant on his or her Election Agreement, the Participant's Sub-Accounts shall be distributed in a lump sum payment.

The minimum monthly installment payment under the Plan shall be $300 (except for the final payment). The $300 minimum monthly
payment may result in a payment period shorter than that elected by the Participant, because payment will cease when the balance credited to the Participant's
Account is reduced to zero.

6.5           Distribution Process.

(a)     Payments will commence to be paid during the 60-day period that begins on the first business day of the month following the thirtieth
(30th) day after the Participant's Commencement Date.
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(b)     Notwithstanding Section 6.5(a), if a Participant's Sub-Account is payable as a result of the Participant's Separation from Service for
any reason other than the Participant's death and such Participant is a "specified employee" within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code as of the date of
his or her Separation from Service (based on the methodology established by the Plan Administrator), such Sub-Account shall begin to be paid on the first
day of the seventh month following the Participant's Separation from Service.

6.6           Death Benefits.

(a)     If a Participant dies prior to his or her Commencement Date with respect to any Sub-Account, the date of the Participant's death will
be determined to be the Commencement Date with respect to such Sub-Account for distribution of benefits to the Participant's beneficiary. The distribution
will be made in the form elected by the Participant with respect to the Sub-Account and paid in accordance with the process outlined in Section 6.5(a). If the
Participant dies after his or her Commencement Date with respect to any Sub-Account, benefits will continue to be distributed from such Sub-Account to the
beneficiary in the same manner as distributions were being made to the Participant.

(b)     If a Participant is married at the time of his or her death, his or her surviving spouse will be his or her beneficiary unless his or her
spouse has consented in writing to the designation of another beneficiary.

(c)     The Participant may change the beneficiary designation at any time by signing and submitting a new beneficiary designation form to
the Plan Administrator in the manner determined by the Company (including, but not limited to, written form, use of a voice response system or other
electronic medium, or any combination thereof); provided, however, that a married Participant may not change his or her beneficiary without the written
consent of his or her spouse.

(d)     If the Participant designates a trust as beneficiary, the Plan Administrator shall determine the rights of the trustee without
responsibility for determining the validity, existence or provisions of the trust. Further, neither the Plan Administrator nor the Company shall have
responsibility for the application of sums paid to the trustee or for the discharge of the trust.

(e)     If no beneficiary has been designated, distribution shall be made to the Participant's spouse, or if none, to his or her children in equal
shares, or if none, to his or her parents in equal shares, or if none, to his or her estate.

6.7           Acceleration of Payment . To the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion,
accelerate the time or schedule of a payment under the Plan as provided in this Section. The provisions of this Section are intended to comply with the
exception to accelerated payments under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j) and shall be interpreted and administered accordingly.

(a)     The Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, accelerate the time or schedule of a payment under the Plan to an individual other
than the Participant as may be necessary to fulfill a domestic relations order (as defined in Section 414(p)(1)(B) of the Code).
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(b)     The Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule of a payment under the Plan to
the extent necessary for any Federal officer or employee in the executive branch to comply with an ethics agreement with the Federal government.
Additionally, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule of a payment under the Plan to the extent
reasonably necessary to avoid the violation of an applicable Federal, state, local, or foreign ethics law or conflicts of interest law (including where such
payment is reasonably necessary to permit the Participant to participate in activities in the normal course of his or her position in which the Participant would
otherwise not be able to participate under an applicable rule).

(c)     The Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule of a payment under the Plan to
pay the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) tax imposed under Sections 3101, 3121(a), and 3121(v)(2) of the Code, or the Railroad Retirement Act
(RRTA) tax imposed under Sections 3201, 3211, 3231(e)(1), and 3231(e)(8) of the Code, where applicable, on compensation deferred under the Plan (the
FICA or RRTA amount). Additionally, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule of a payment, to
pay the income tax at source on wages imposed under Section 3401 of the Code or the corresponding withholding provisions of applicable state, local, or
foreign tax laws as a result of the payment of the FICA or RRTA amount, and to pay the additional income tax at source on wages attributable to the
pyramiding Section 3401 of the Code wages and taxes. However, the total payment under this acceleration provision must not exceed the aggregate of the
FICA or RRTA amount, and the income tax withholding related to such FICA or RRTA amount.

(d)     Subject to Section 6.5(b) hereof, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule
of a payment under the Plan at any time the Plan fails to meet the requirements of Section 409A of the Code. The payment may not exceed the amount
required to be included in income as a result of the failure to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

(e)     Subject to Section 6.5(b) hereof, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule
of a payment under the Plan to reflect payment of state, local, or foreign tax obligations arising from participation in the Plan that apply to an amount deferred
under the Plan before the amount is paid or made available to the participant (the state, local, or foreign tax amount). Such payment may not exceed the
amount of such taxes due as a result of participation in the Plan. The payment may be made in the form of withholding pursuant to provisions of applicable
state, local, or foreign law or by payment directly to the participant. Additionally, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the
acceleration of the time or schedule of a payment under the Plan to pay the income tax at source on wages imposed under Section 3401 of the Code as a result
of such payment and to pay the additional income tax at source on wages imposed under Section 3401 of the Code attributable to such additional wages and
taxes. However, the total payment under this acceleration provision must not exceed the aggregate of the state, local, and foreign tax amount, and the income
tax withholding related to such state, local, and foreign tax amount.
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(f)     Subject to Section 6.5(b) hereof, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule
of a payment under the Plan as satisfaction of a debt of the Participant to the Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with
the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code), where such debt is incurred in the ordinary course of the service relationship between the
Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code) and the
Participant, the entire amount of reduction in any of the taxable years of the Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with
the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code) does not exceed $5,000, and the reduction is made at the same time and in the same
amount as the debt otherwise would have been due and collected from the Participant.

(g)     Subject to Section 6.5(b) hereof, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule
of a payment under the Plan where such payments occur as part of a settlement between the Participant and the Company (or any entity which would be
considered to be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code) of an arm's length, bona fide dispute as to the
Participant's right to the deferred amount.

(h)     Subject to Section 6.5(b) hereof, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide for the acceleration of the time or schedule
of a payment under the Plan as provided in Section 7.7 hereof.

(i)     Subject to Section 6.5(b) hereof, a payment may be accelerated upon such other events and conditions as the Internal Revenue Service
may prescribe in generally applicable guidance published in the Internal Revenue Bulletin.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Plan, including but not limited to Section 4.2(f), this Section 6.7 and Section 7.7 hereof, the Plan
Administrator may not accelerate the time or schedule of any payment or amount scheduled to be paid under the Plan within the meaning of Section 409A of
the Code.

6.8           Delay of Payments . To the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code, the Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, delay
payment under any of the following circumstances, provided that the Plan Administrator treats all payments to similarly situated Participants on a reasonably
consistent basis:

(a)     A payment may be delayed to the extent that the Plan Administrator reasonably anticipates that if the payment were made as
scheduled, the Company's deduction with respect to such payment would not be permitted due to the application of Section 162(m) of the Code. If a payment
is delayed pursuant to this Section 6.8(a), then the payment must be made either (i) during the Company's first taxable year in which the Plan Administrator
reasonably anticipates, or should reasonably anticipate, that if the payment is made during such year, the deduction of such payment will not be barred by
application of Section 162(m) of the Code, or (ii) during the period beginning with the first business day of the seventh month following the Participant's
separation from service as defined in Section 409A of the Code (the "six month anniversary") and ending on the later of (x) the last day of the taxable year of
the Company in which the six month anniversary occurs or (y) the 15th day of the third month following the six month anniversary. Where any scheduled
payment to a specific Participant in a Company's taxable year is delayed in accordance with this paragraph, all scheduled payments to that Participant that
could be delayed in accordance with this paragraph must also be delayed. The Plan Administrator may not provide the Participant an election with respect to
the timing of the payment under this Section 6.8(a). For purposes of this Section 6.8(a), the term Company includes any entity which would be considered to
be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code.
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(b)     A Payment may be delayed where the Plan Administrator reasonably anticipates that the making of the payment will violate federal
securities laws or other applicable law; provided that the delayed payment is made at the earliest date at which the Plan Administrator reasonably anticipates
that the making of the payment will not cause such violation. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the making of a payment that would cause inclusion in
gross income or the application of any penalty provision or other provision of the Code is not treated as a violation of applicable law.

(c)     A payment may be delayed upon such other events and conditions as the Internal Revenue Service may prescribe in generally
applicable guidance published in the Internal Revenue Bulletin.

6.9           Actual Payment Date . To the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code, the Plan Administrator may delay payment in the event that
it is not administratively possible to make payment on the date (or within the periods) specified in this Article VI, or the making of the payment would
jeopardize the ability of the Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or Section
414(c) of the Code) to continue as a going concern. Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment must be made no later than the latest possible date permitted
under Section 409A of the Code.

ARTICLE 7

ADMINISTRATION

7.1           Plan Administrator. The Company shall have the sole responsibility for the administration of the Plan and is designated as Plan
Administrator.

7.2           Appointment of Administrative Plan Administrator. The Company may delegate its duties as Plan Administrator to a Benefit Plans
Committee. The members of the Benefit Plans Committee shall be selected by the Company. If a Benefit Plans Committee is appointed, it shall be the Plan
Administrator.

7.3           Powers of Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator shall have the full and exclusive power, discretion and authority to administer the
Plan. The determinations and decisions of the Plan Administrator are final and binding on all persons. The Plan Administrator's powers shall include but shall
not be limited to, the power to:

(a)     Maintain records pertaining to the Plan.

(b)     Construe and interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan.
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(c)     Establish procedures by which Participants may apply for benefits under the Plan and appeal a denial of benefits.

(d)     Determine the rights under the Plan of any Participant applying for or receiving benefits.

(e)     Administer the claims procedure provided in this Article.

(f)     Perform all acts necessary to meet the reporting and disclosure obligations imposed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974 ("ERISA").

(g)     Delegate specific responsibilities for the operation and administration of the Plan to such employees or agents as it deems advisable
and necessary.

In the exercise of its powers, the Plan Administrator shall be entitled to rely upon all tables, valuations, certificates and reports furnished by
any accountant or consultant and upon opinions given by any legal counsel in each case duly selected by the Plan Administrator.

7.4           Limitation of Liability. The Plan Administrator, the Company, and its officers and board of directors shall not be liable for any act or
omission relating to their duties under the Plan, unless such act or omission is attributable to their own willful misconduct or lack of good faith.

7.5           Claims Procedures.

(a)     All claims under the Plan shall be directed to the attention of the Plan Administrator. Any Participant or beneficiary whose application
for benefits or other claim under the Plan has been denied, in whole or in part, shall be given written notice of the denial by the Plan Administrator within
sixty (60) days after the receipt of the claim. The notice shall explain that the Participant or beneficiary may request a review of the denial and the procedure
for requesting review. The notice shall describe any additional information necessary to perfect the Participant's or beneficiary's claim and explain why such
information is necessary. If a Participant or beneficiary does not receive a written response to a claim within sixty (60) days after receipt of the claim by the
Plan Administrator, the claim will be deemed to be denied.

(b)     A Participant or beneficiary may make a written request to the Plan Administrator for a review of any denial of claims under this Plan.
The request for review must be in writing and must be made within sixty (60) days after the mailing date of the notice of denial or the deemed denial. The
request shall refer to the provisions of the Plan on which it is based and shall set forth the facts relied upon as justifying a reversal or modification of the
determination being appealed.

(c)     A Participant or beneficiary who requests a review of denial of claims in accordance with this claims procedure may examine
pertinent documents and submit pertinent issues and comments in writing. A Participant or beneficiary may have a duly authorized representative act on his
or her behalf in exercising his or her right to request a review and any other rights granted by this claims procedure. The Plan Administrator shall provide a
review of the decision denying the claim within sixty (60) days after receiving the written request for review. If a Participant or beneficiary does not receive a
written response to a request for a review within the foregoing time limit, such request will be deemed to be denied. A decision by the Plan Administrator for
review shall be final and binding on all persons.
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7.6           Withholding of Taxes. Subject to Section 6.7 hereof, to the extent required by the law in effect at the time payments are made, the
Company may withhold or cause to be withheld from any amounts deferred or payable under the Plan all federal, state, local and other taxes as shall be
legally required. The Company shall have the right in its sole discretion to (i) require a Participant to pay or provide for payment of the amount of any taxes
that the Company may be required to withhold with respect to amounts that the Company credits to a Participant's Account or (ii) deduct from any amount of
salary, commission, bonus, incentive compensation or other payment otherwise payable in cash to the Participant the amount of any taxes that the Company
may be required to withhold with respect to amounts that the Company credits to a Participant's Account.

7.7           Distributions Upon Termination of Plan. In the event that the Plan is terminated, the amounts allocated to a Participant's Sub-Accounts
shall be paid to the Participant or his or her beneficiary on the dates on which the Participant or his or her beneficiary would otherwise receive payments
hereunder without regard to the termination of the Plan. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, and subject to Section 6.5(b) hereof:

(a)     The Company, by action of its board of directors, shall have the authority, in its sole discretion, to terminate the Plan and pay each
Participant's entire Account to the Participant or, if applicable, his or her beneficiary within twelve (12) months of a corporate dissolution taxed under Section
331 of the Code or with the approval of a bankruptcy court pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 503(b)(1)(a), provided that the amounts are included in the Participant's
gross income in the latest of the following years (or, if earlier, the taxable year in which the amount is actually or constructively received): (i) the calendar
year in which the Plan termination and liquidation occurs; (ii) the first calendar year in which the amount is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture
as defined under Section 409A of the Code; or (iii) the first calendar year in which the payment is administratively practicable.

(b)     The Company, by action of its board of directors, shall have the authority, in its sole discretion, to terminate the Plan and pay each
Participant's entire Account to the Participant or, if applicable, his or her beneficiary pursuant to an irrevocable action taken by the board of directors within
the 30 days preceding or the 12 months following a Change in Control, provided that this paragraph will only apply if all agreements, methods, programs, and
other arrangements sponsored by the Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or
Section 414(c) of the Code) immediately after the time of the change in control event with respect to which deferrals of compensation are treated as having
been deferred under a single plan under Section 409A of the Code are terminated and paid with respect to each Participant that experienced the Change in
Control event, so that under the terms of the termination and payment all such Participants are required to receive all amounts of compensation deferred under
the terminated agreements, methods, programs, and other arrangements within 12 months of the date the Company (or any entity which would be considered
to be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code) irrevocably takes all necessary action to terminate and
liquidate the agreements, methods, programs, and other arrangements.
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(c)     The Company, by action of its board of directors, shall have the authority, in its sole discretion, to terminate the Plan and pay each
Participant's entire Account to the Participant or, if applicable, his or her beneficiary, provided that: (i) the termination and liquidation does not occur
proximate to a downturn in the financial health of the Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with the Company under
Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code); (ii) The Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with the Company under
Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code) terminates and liquidates all agreements, methods, programs, and other arrangements sponsored by the
Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code) that
would be aggregated with any terminated and liquidated agreements, methods, programs, and other arrangements under Section 409A of the Code if the same
Participant had deferrals of compensation under all of the agreements, methods, programs, and other arrangements that are terminated and liquidated; (iii) no
payments in liquidation of the Plan are made within 12 months of the date the board of directors takes all necessary action to irrevocably terminate and
liquidate the Plan other than payments that would be payable under the terms of the Plan if the action to terminate and liquidate the Plan had not occurred;
(iv) all payments are made within 24 months of the date the board of directors takes all necessary action to irrevocably terminate and liquidate the Plan; and
(v) the Company (or any entity which would be considered to be a single employer with the Company under Section 414(b) or Section 414(c) of the Code)
does not adopt a new plan that would be aggregated with any terminated and liquidated plan under Section 409A of the Code if the same Participant
participated in both plans, at any time within three years following the date the board takes all necessary action to irrevocably terminate and liquidate the
Plan.

(a)     Other Events. The Company, by action of its board of directors, shall have the authority, in its sole discretion, to terminate the Plan
and pay each Participant's entire Account to the Participant or, if applicable, his or her beneficiary upon such other events and conditions as the Internal
Revenue Service may prescribe in generally applicable guidance published in the Internal Revenue Bulletin.

7.8           Compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

(a)     It is intended that the Plan comply with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code, so as to prevent the inclusion in gross income of
any amounts deferred hereunder in a taxable year that is prior to the taxable year or years in which such amounts would otherwise actually be paid or made
available to Participants or his or her beneficiaries. This Plan shall be construed, administered, and governed in a manner that effects such intent, and the Plan
Administrator shall not take any action that would be inconsistent with such intent.

(b)     Although the Plan Administrator shall use its best efforts to avoid the imposition of taxation, interest and penalties under Section
409A of the Code, the tax treatment of deferrals under this Plan is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company, the board of directors of the Company,
nor the Plan Administrator (nor its designee) shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties or other monetary amounts owed by any Participant,
beneficiary or other taxpayer as a result of the Plan.
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(c)     Any reference in this Plan to Section 409A of the Code will also include any proposed, temporary or final regulations, or any other
guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section 409A by the U.S. Department of Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service. For purposes of the Plan, the
phrase "permitted by Section 409A of the Code," or words or phrases of similar import, shall mean that the event or circumstance shall only be permitted to
the extent it would not cause an amount deferred or payable under the Plan to be includible in the gross income of a Participant or beneficiary under Section
409A(a)(1) of the Code.

ARTICLE 8

MISCELLANEOUS

8.1           Unfunded Plan.

(a)     The Plan shall be an unfunded plan maintained by the Company for the purpose of providing benefits for a select group of
management or highly compensated employees. The Company is not required to set aside, earmark or entrust any fund or money with which to pay its
obligations under this Plan or to invest in any particular investment vehicle and may change investments of Company assets at any time.

(b)     All benefits under this Plan shall be paid by the Company from its general assets, which assets shall, at all times, remain subject to the
claims of the Company's creditors. Neither Participants, their beneficiaries nor their legal representatives shall have any right, other than the right of an
unsecured general creditor, against the Company in respect of any portion of a Participant's Account and shall have no right, title or interest, legal or
equitable, in or to any asset of the Company.

8.2           Spendthrift Provision. The Plan shall not in any manner be liable for or subject to the debts or liabilities of any Participant or beneficiary.
No benefit or interest under the Plan is subject to assignment, alienation, pledge or encumbrance, whether voluntary or involuntary, except as provided in
Section 206(d)(3) of ERISA, relating to qualified domestic relations orders. Any assignment, alienation, pledge or encumbrance of benefits shall be void and
will not be recognized by the Company except to the extent required by law. With respect to a qualified domestic relations order, a separate Account shall be
established for the alternate payee in accordance with such order, with such Account immediately distributed to the alternate payee.

8.3           Employment Rights. The existence of the Plan shall not grant a Participant any legal or equitable right to continue as an Employee nor
affect the right of the Company to discharge a Participant.
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8.4           Amendment or Termination. Kelly Services, Inc. reserves the right to amend, terminate or freeze the Plan, in whole or in part, at any time
by action of its board of directors and the Kelly Services, Inc. Benefit Plans Committee reserves the right to amend or modify the Plan with respect to
administrative matters at any time without prior notice by action of the Committee. Moreover, the Committee may amend the Plan at any time in its sole
discretion to ensure that the Plan complies with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code or other applicable law; provided, however, that such
amendments, in the aggregate, may not materially increase the benefit costs of the Plan. In no event shall any such action by the board of directors of Kelly
Services or Committee adversely affect any Participant or beneficiary who has an Account, or result in any change in the timing or manner of payment of the
amount of any Account (except as otherwise permitted under the Plan), without the consent of the Participant or beneficiary, unless the board of directors or
the Committee, as the case may be, determines in good faith that such action is necessary to ensure compliance with Section 409A of the Code. A Company
affiliated with Kelly Services, Inc. which has adopted this Plan may terminate its participation in the Plan at any time by action of its board of directors or its
delegate, except as may otherwise be prohibited by Section 409A of the Code. To the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code, the Committee may, in
its sole discretion, modify the rules applicable to Deferral Elections, Payment Elections and Subsequent Payment Elections to the extent necessary to satisfy
the requirements of the Uniformed Service Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as amended, 38 U.S.C. 4301-4334.

8.5           No Fiduciary Relationship Created. Nothing contained in this Plan, and no action taken pursuant to the provisions of this Plan, shall create
or be deemed to create a fiduciary relationship between the Company or Plan Administrator and any Participant, beneficiary or any other person.

8.6           Obligations to Employer. If a Participant becomes entitled to a distribution under the Plan and if at such time the Participant has
outstanding any debt, obligation, or other liability representing an amount owing to the Company that has been presented to the Plan Administrator within
twelve (12) months after the Participant's termination of employment, then, subject to the requirements of Section 409A of the Code (including the delay of
payments required under Section 6.5(b)), the Plan Administrator may offset such amount owed to it against the amount otherwise distributable.

8.7           Receipt of Release. Any payment to any Participant or beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of this Plan shall, to the extent
thereof, be in full satisfaction of all claims against the Plan Administrator, the Company and any of their officers, directors, shareholders, employees or
agents. The Plan Administrator may require a Participant or beneficiary, as a condition precedent to a payment from the Plan, to execute a release. The Plan
Administrator shall provide such release within 10 days after the Commencement Date and the Participant must return such release to the Plan Administrator
within 50 days after the Commencement Date.

8.8           No Warranty or Representation. The Company makes no warranty or representation regarding the effect of deferrals made or benefits paid
under this Plan for federal, state or local tax purposes.

8.9           Construction. Wherever the context of the Plan dictates, words used in the plural shall be read as the singular and the singular as the plural.

8.10         Governing Law. The provisions of the Plan shall be governed by ERISA, but to the extent that Michigan law is not preempted by ERISA,
the provisions of the Plan shall be governed by the laws of the State of Michigan.
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8.11         Counterparts. This Plan may be signed in any one or more counterparts each of which together shall constitute one instrument.

8.12         Expenses. Subject to Section 409A of the Code (including the delay of payments required under Section 6.5(b)), the Company may elect to
debit a Participant's Account for the expenses of administration of the Plan, including the expenses of the Plan Administrator and the fees of any trustee.

ARTICLE 9

PRIOR PLAN AND TRANSITION RULES

9.1           Prior Plan.

(a)     Any "amounts deferred" in taxable years before January 1, 2005 under the Prior Plan (within the meaning of Section 409A of the
Code) and any earnings thereon shall be governed by the terms of the Prior Plan as in effect on October 3, 2004, and it is intended that such amounts and any
earnings thereon be exempt from the application of Section 409A of the Code. Nothing contained herein is intended to materially enhance a benefit or right
existing under the Prior Plan as of October 3, 2004 or add a new material benefit or right to such Prior Plan.

(b)     Any "amounts deferred" in taxable years on or after January 1, 2005 (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code) and any
earnings thereon shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan. The Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, transfer all or any portion of
the Accounts from the Prior Plan to this Plan to effectuate this Section 9.1(b).

9.2     Transition Relief for Deferral Elections. A Participant designated by the Plan Administrator may, no later than a date specified by the Plan
Administrator (provided that such date occurs no later than December 31, 2007 or such other date as permitted under Section 409A of the Code) elect in the
manner determined by the Company (including, but not limited to, written form provided by the Plan Administrator, use of a voice response system or other
electronic medium, or any combination thereof) to (i) change the date of payment of his or her Account to a date otherwise permitted under the Plan or (ii)
change the manner of payment of his or her Account to a manner of payment otherwise permitted under the Plan, without complying with the special timing
requirements of Section 4.2. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, a Participant cannot in 2007 change his or her Payment Election with respect to
payments that the Participant would otherwise receive in 2007, and a Participant may not cause payments to be made in 2007 that would not otherwise be
payable in such year. This Section 9.2 is intended to comply with Notice 2006-79 and the applicable proposed and final Treasury Regulations issued under
Section 409A of the Code and shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with such intent.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has executed this amended and restated Plan this 8th day of November, 2008.
 
 KELLY SERVICES, INC.
  
  

By: /s/ Jeff Rhoads
Its: Director, Global Benefits
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Exhibit 10.13

 

 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO

THE
KELLY SERVICES, INC.

2008 MANAGEMENT RETIREMENT PLAN
 

WHEREAS, Kelly Services, Inc. (the "Company") adopted the Kelly Services, Inc. Management Retirement Plan (the "Plan"); and
 

WHEREAS, under Section 8.4 of the Plan, the Company has the right to amend the Plan by action the Benefit Plans Committee (the
"Committee"); and

 
WHEREAS, the Company now desires to amend the Plan, effective December 31, 2011, to permit participants to elect to take distributions from
the Plan on a date certain, including dates when the participant may continue to be an employee of the Company.

 
NOW, THEREFORE, effective December 31, 2011, the Plan is hereby amended as follows:

 
1.            The following new Section 2.17 is inserted after Section 2.16:

 
2.17 Scheduled In-Service Distribution means, with respect to deferrals into the Plan on or after January 1, 2012, a distribution

from the Plan of such deferrals that the Participant elects to receive (or to begin to receive) on February 1st of the year designated by the
Participant on an Election Agreement or Subsequent Payment Election, which designated year must be at least two years after the date in
which the payment election becomes irrevocable.

 
2.             The current Sections 2.17 through 2.21 are renumbered Sections 2.18 through 2.22, respectively.

 
3.             The text of Section 6.1 is deleted and replaced with the following:

 
Pursuant to an Election Agreement or Subsequent Payment Election (as provided in Section 6.3), a Participant may designate

that a Sub-Account be paid either (a) on his or her Separation from Service, (b) the later of his or her Separation from Service or a
Specified Age or (c) the date of a Scheduled In-Service Distribution. The occurrence of such Separation from Service, the attainment of
such Specified Age or the occurrence of such Scheduled In-Service Distribution date shall constitute the Commencement Date for such
Sub-Account and such Sub-Account shall be paid in accordance with the process described in Section 6.5.

 
 

 



 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Kelly Services, Inc. has hereunto caused its name to be subscribed on this 11th day of November, 2011.
 
 
 KELLY SERVICES, INC.
  
 By: /s/ Debra Uygur

Title: Director, Global Benefits
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 
I, Carl T. Camden, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kelly Services, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)     Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
(d)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: November 7, 2012

/s/ Carl T. Camden  
  Carl T. Camden  
   
  President and  

Chief Executive Officer
 
 
 
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 
I, Patricia Little, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kelly Services, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)     Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
(d)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: November 7, 2012

/s/ Patricia Little  
  Patricia Little  
   
  Executive Vice President and  

Chief Financial Officer
 



Exhibit 32.1
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Kelly Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2012 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Carl T. Camden, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

  
Date: November 7, 2012

 
 
 

/s/ Carl T. Camden  
  Carl T. Camden  
   
  President and  

Chief Executive Officer
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Kelly Services, Inc. and will be retained by Kelly Services, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Exhibit 32.2
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Kelly Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2012 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Patricia Little, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

 
Date: November 7, 2012

 
 

/s/ Patricia Little  
  Patricia Little  
   
  Executive Vice President and  

Chief Financial Officer
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Kelly Services, Inc. and will be retained by Kelly Services, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 


